# Diagnostic and epidemiological studies of staphylococci in bovine mastitis

Aldo Capurro

Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science Department of Clinical Sciences, Uppsala and National Veterinary Institute, Department of Bacteriology, Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2009 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2009:5

Cover: Description of photograph (if any)... (photo: N. Name)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN 978-91-86195-52-6 © 2009 Aldo Capurro, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2009

# Diagnostic and epidemiological studies of staphylococci in bovine mastitis

### Abstract

Mastitis is the most common disease in dairy cows and is often caused by staphylococcal infections. The genus Staphylococcus is divided in coagulase-negative (CNS) and coagulase-positive (CPS) staphylococci. The CPS S. aureus is the most prevalent udder pathogen in Swedish dairy cows. For successful mastitis control accurate diagnostics and good understanding of the bacterial epidemiology is essential. This thesis describes methods for species differentiation within CNS and CPS, examines genotypic diversity of S. aureus isolates within Sweden, and identifies potential sources of S. aureus in herds with mastitis problems. First, three phenotypic tests (P-agar with acriflavin, β-galactosidase, and haemolytic reaction in chocolate agar) of eight biochemical tests evaluated were found useful for differentiation between the CPS species, S. aureus, S. hyicus and S. intermedius. The proportions of each species among bovine milk isolates were 97%, 1%, and 2%, respectively. Then, species identification of CNS using the Staph-Zym<sup>™</sup> test was compared with sequencing of part of the *tuf* gene. Staph-Zym<sup>™</sup> correctly identified 61%, but gave an incorrect species name in 28% of the milk isolates. Supplementary tests were frequently needed when using Staph-Zym<sup>TM</sup>. In the next study, S. aureus isolates from a national survey on acute clinical mastitis were genotyped using pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE), and 25 pulsotypes (PTs) were identified. Three of the PTss accounted for over 50% of the isolates and were found all over the country. The distribution of PTs was different in the southern region than in the northern and middle regions of the country. Finally, S. aureus PTs in quarter milk samples, body samples (BS), and environment samples (ES) from various animal groups were studied in five herds with S. aureus mastitis problems. Herd differences were found, but all herds had one predominant unique milk PTs. In three farms this PTs was often found in BS and ES of lactating cows, and occasionally in samples from the other groups.

*Keywords:* Bovine mastitis, dairy cows, clinical mastitis, *Staphylococcus aureus*, CNS, CPS, phenotypic, genotypic, Staph-Zym<sup>™</sup>, *tuf* gene sequencing, PFGE

*Author's address*: Aldo Capurro, Division of Reproduction, Department of Clinical Sciences, SLU, P.O. Box 7054, SE-750 07 Uppsala, Sweden E-mail: Aldo.Capurro@sva.se

# Dedication

To my son Paolo and my wife Cecilia

Människor borde alltid bete sig mot varandra som om deras möte vore det sista. Vilhelm Moberg

# Contents

List of Publications			
Abbre	Abbreviations		
1	Introduction	13	
1.1	Identification of the genus Staphylococcus	14	
	1.1.1 Species identification of CNS	14	
	1.1.2 Species identification of CPS	17	
	1.1.3 Sub-typing of <i>S. aureus</i>	18	
1.2	Staphylococcal bovine mastitis	19	
	1.2.1 CNS mastitis	20	
	1.2.2 CPS mastitis with emphasis on <i>S. aureus</i>	22	
2	Aims of the study	27	
3	Material and methods	29	
3.1	Bacterial isolates	29	
	3.1.1 Reference strains	29	
	3.1.2 Field isolates	29	
3.2	Bacteriological methods	30	
	3.2.1 Cultivation methods and phenotypic	30	
	characterisation (Papers I-IV)	30	
	3.2.2 Genotypic methods (Papers II-IV)	32	
3.3	Statistics	32	
4	Results	33	
4.1	Species identification of CPS (Paper I)	33	
4.2	Species identification of CNS (Paper II)	33	
	4.2.1 Prevalence of CNS species and antimicrobial resistance	33	
	4.2.2 Comparison between <i>tuf</i> gene sequencing and Staph-Zym <sup>™</sup>	34	
4.3	S. aureus pulsotypes in acute clinical mastitis (Paper III)	34	

4.4	Identification of potential sources of <i>S. aureus</i> in herds with mastitis problems (Paper IV)	35
5	General Discussion	37
5.1	Species differentiation of staphylococci in bovine mastitis	37
	5.1.1 Differentiation of CPS	37
	5.1.2 Differentiation of CNS	38
5.2	Epidemiology of S. aureus mastitis	39
	5.2.1 Epidemiology of <i>S. aureus</i> in Swedish dairy herds	40
6	Conclusions	43
References		
Acknowledgements		

# List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Capurro, A., Concha, C., Nilsson, L., & Östensson, K. (1999). Identification of coagulase-positive staphylococci isolated from bovine milk. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica* 40: 315-321.
- II Capurro, A., Artursson, K., Persson Waller, K., Bengtsson, B., Ericsson Unnerstad, H., & Aspán, A. (2008). Comparison of a commercialized phenotyping system, antimicrobial susceptibility testing, and *tuf* gene sequence-based genotyping for species-level identification of coagulasenegative staphylococci isolated from cases of bovine mastitis. *Veterinary Microbiology* (In press).
- III Capurro, A., Aspán, A., Artursson, K., & Persson Waller, K. Genotypic variation among *Staphylococcus aureus* isolated from clinical mastitis in Swedish dairy cows. (Submitted for publication).
- IV Capurro, A., Aspán, A., Ericsson Unnerstad, H., Persson Waller, K., & Artursson, K. Identification of potential sources of *Staphylococcus aureus* in dairy herds with mastitis problems. (Manuscript).

Papers I-II are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

# Abbreviations

AFLP	Amplified fragment length polymorphism fingerprinting
BS	Body samples
BT	Binary-typing
CAMP-like	Synergistic hemolysis test
CFU	Colony-forming unit
CNS	Coagulase negative staphylococci
CPS	Coagulase positive staphylococci
ES	Environment samples
MBP	Modified Baird-Parker
MLEE	Multi-locus enzyme electrophoresis
MLST	Multilocus sequence typing
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PFGE	Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis
PTs	Pulsotype(s)
S.	Staphylococcus
Sa+	Presence of S. aureus
SCC	Somatic cell count
VJ	Vogel-Johnson

# 1 Introduction

Mastitis is one of the most prevalent and most costly production diseases affecting the dairy cattle industry worldwide (Seegers *et al.*, 2003).

Most cases of bovine mastitis are of bacterial origin, and bacteria of the genus Staphylococcus are among the most prevalent agents causing mastitis in many parts of the world. Historically, the genus Staphylococcus is divided by the coagulase test into coagulase-negative (CNS) and coagulase-positive (CPS) species. The understanding of CNS mastitis is complicated by the heterogeneity of this group of bacteria as it contains a large number of different species. So far, 16 CNS species or subspecies have been diagnosed in bovine mastitis. In general, CNS is normally not identified at the species level in routine diagnostics, and has often been considered to be of minor importance as an udder pathogen. However, recent studies on mastitis prevalence have revealed that CNS may be of major importance in some countries (Pyorala & Taponen, 2008). Moreover, CNS species have also been shown to vary in their abilities to cause different types of mastitis (Thorberg, 2008; Taponen et al., 2006). Thus, species-specific knowledge of the impact and epidemiology of CNS intra-mammary infections is needed. Among CPS isolated from bovine mastitis are Staphylococcus (S.) aureus, S. intermedius and S. hyicus. However, in routine diagnostics all CPS strains are diagnosed as S. aureus. S. aureus is the most common udder pathogen in bovine mastitis in Sweden (Ericsson Unnerstad et al., 2008; Anonymous, 2007) and is an important udder pathogen also in many other parts of the world (Olde Riekerink et al., 2008; Gianneechini et al., 2002; Waage et al., 1999; Elbers et al., 1998). Recent studies have revealed that many different S. aureus strains exist in bovine mastitis, and that those strains may vary in virulence and epidemiology (Fournier et al., 2008; Haveri et al., 2007; Dingwell et al., 2006; Zecconi et al., 2006b; Sommerhauser et al., 2003; Zadoks et al., 2000). These findings may result in the need to update current

mastitis control programs. Thus, further studies on the bacterial epidemiology of *S. aureus* are warranted.

In investigations on bacterial epidemiology of staphylococcal mastitis accurate bacteriological diagnostics of CNS and CPS, both at species and strain level, is essential. Therefore, diagnostic methods should constantly be reevaluated and up-dated.

### 1.1 Identification of the genus *Staphylococcus*

Members of the genus Staphylococcus have historically been classified and differentiated on the basis of a variety of phenotypic characteristics such as morphology, and biochemical reactions. Pigment was the first criterion used to identify staphylococcal species, and in 1885, Rosenbach identified members of the genus Staphylococcus based on the colour of colonies. Rosenbach called staphylococci forming orange-yellow colonies S. aureus (or S. pyogenes aureus), while staphylococci forming white colonies were named S. albus (or S. pyogenes albus) (Kloos, 1980). It was not until almost 45 years later (1930) that another characteristic was described for differentiation between staphylococci, the coagulase test investigating the ability of staphylococcal species to clot blood plasma (Kloos, 1980). This test resulted in the separation of staphylococci into two groups, the CPS (formally S. aureus) and CNS. Later on, during the 1960s, Baird-Parker conducted some of the most comprehensive studies of the genus Staphylococcus. He examined different phenotypic characteristics of a large number of isolates of staphylococci, and proposed a sub-division into six sub-groups I-VI (Baird-Parker, 1963). S. aureus was placed in sub-group I, and sub-groups II-VI contained different types of CNS. These sub-groups were later called the S. epidermidis group. However, during the following years other approaches were used to identify members of the genus Staphylococcus, which resulted in the discovery and naming of new species and subspecies of CPS, but mainly of CNS. Most of this work was performed during the 70s and 80s (Devriese et al., 1985; Kloos et al., 1976; Kloos & Schleifer, 1975a; Schleifer & Kloos, 1975). Based on the characteristics used in those studies, 37 species and 17 subspecies can today be identified in the genus Staphylococcus (Bannerman & Peacock, 2007).

#### 1.1.1 Species identification of CNS

In humans and animals, CNS have mainly been considered to be saprophytic and only rarely pathogenic. Currently, 30 species and subspecies of CNS are listed (Bannerman & Peacock, 2007), and today some of those species are recognized as potential pathogens to both humans and animals (Pyorala & Taponen, 2008; Layer *et al.*, 2006). The species that most frequently cause diseases in humans are *S. epidermidis*, *S. haemolyticus*, and *S. saprophyticus* (Cunha Mde *et al.*, 2004), while *S. simulans*, *S. chromogenes*, *S. hyicus* and *S. epidermidis* seem to be the most common in bovine mastitis (Luthje & Schwarz, 2006; Taponen *et al.*, 2006; Birgersson *et al.*, 1992). The identification of CNS is, however, complicated by the heterogeneity of this group of bacteria. Therefore, a large number of biochemical tests are needed for phenotypic differentiation between CNS species (Bannerman & Peacock, 2007; Martineau *et al.*, 2001; Kloos & Wolfshohl, 1982). Identification of CNS can, however, also be made using genotypic methods.

#### Phenotypic methods

Different procedures involving a varying number of biochemical tests have been proposed (Bannerman & Peacock, 2007; Cunha Mde *et al.*, 2004; Bannerman, 2003; Thorberg & Brändström, 2000; Devriese *et al.*, 1994; Devriese *et al.*, 1985; Kloos & Schleifer, 1975a) for identification of CNS isolates from humans and animals. These procedures are mostly not suitable for routine use as they are laborious due to the large number (3-36) of biochemical tests required. Moreover, several tests are rather timeconsuming. In addition, some of the procedures were not able to identify some of the most important CNS (Bannerman & Peacock, 2007; Cunha Mde *et al.*, 2004; Thorberg & Brändström, 2000) For routine identification of CNS isolates, ease of testing and time needed for the tests are critical variables.

Trying to solve these problems different commercial identification systems were developed to identify members of the genus *Staphylococcus*, and in particular those of the CNS group. Around twenty different commercial systems are available (Bascomb & Manafi, 1998) and approximately six of them have been tested on CNS isolates from animals (Ruegg, 2008; Watts & Yancey, 1994). Most commercial identification systems are based on a limited number of biochemical reactions, and were mainly developed for identification of human isolates. The accuracy, i.e. the level of agreement between the commercial system and a given reference method, reported for the commercial systems was very variable ranging from 11% to 99% (Bascomb & Manafi, 1998; Watts & Yancey, 1994)). Commercial systems like Staph-Zym<sup>™</sup> (Rosco, Taastrup, Denmark) and API Staph ID 32 (API test, bioMérieux, France) have been used for phenotypic identification of CNS in human diagnostic laboratories as well as in laboratories diagnosing bovine mastitis (Bascomb & Manafi, 1998; Watts & Yancey, 1994).

However, when comparing Staph-Zym<sup>™</sup> and API Staph ID 32 for identification of bovine CNS isolates against conventional methods, the level of agreement varied markedly (Sampimon *et al.*, 2008; Thorberg & Brändström, 2000). In addition, Thorberg & Brändström, (2000) found that additional tests were frequently needed when using Staph-Zym<sup>™</sup>, which adds extra labour time and costs. One important general problem with methods based on phenotypic characteristics is the fact that expression of metabolic activities and/or morphological features may be variable within each species (Layer *et al.*, 2006).

#### Genotypic methods

Genotypic methods use DNA as the basis for CNS identification. In general, such methods have higher discriminatory power, reproducibility and typeability than conventional phenotypic methods (Zadoks & Watts, 2008; Stepan *et al.*, 2004). A number of PCR amplicon sequencing-based methods for identification of CNS have been reported, e.g. targeting the 16S rRNA, *sodA*, *tuf*, *rpoB*, *dnaJ*, *cpn60* (also called *hsp60* or *groEL*) or the *gap* genes (Mellmann *et al.*, 2006; Fontana *et al.*, 2005; Becker *et al.*, 2004; Kwok & Chow, 2003; Drancourt & Raoult, 2002; Martineau *et al.*, 2001; Yugueros *et al.*, 2000). Among these, PCR sequencing of the *tuf* gene has been proposed as a reliable and valuable approach for identification of CNS (Ghebremedhin *et al.*, 2008; Heikens *et al.*, 2005; Martineau *et al.*, 2001). According to Martineau *et al.* (2001), this assay is suitable for differentiation between 27 CNS species.

Various other DNA-based methods such as 16S rRNA sequencing (Becker *et al.*, 2004), ribotyping (Svec *et al.*, 2004; De Buyser *et al.*, 1992), PCR-restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis (Becker *et al.*, 2004; De Buyser *et al.*, 1992), amplified fragment length polymorphism fingerprinting (AFLP) (Taponen *et al.*, 2007), internal transcribed spacer PCR (Fujita *et al.*, 2005), tRNA intergenic spacer length polymorphism analysis (Maes *et al.*, 1997) and whole-genome DNA-DNA hybridization analysis (Svec *et al.*, 2004) have also been described for species identification of the genus *Staphylococcus*. None of these methods is today considered suitable for routine use due to problems with differentiation between some staphylococci, and interpretation of results, or due to being too time-consuming and expensive.

#### 1.1.2 Species identification of CPS

In the latest edition of the Manual of Clinical Microbiology six species of CPS other than *S. aureus* are listed, e.g. *S. delphini, S. intermedius, S. lutrae, S pseudointermedius, S. schleiferi* subs. *coagulans*, and the coagulase variable *S. hyicus* (Bannerman & Peacock, 2007). *S. aureus*, being pathogenic to both humans and animals, is considered the most important of the CPS species whereas *S. hyicus* is less diagnosed and *S. intermedius* are frequently diagnosed in hund (Griffeth *et al.*, 2008; Saadatian-Elahi *et al.*, 2008; Calzolari *et al.*, 1995). In bovine mastitis, *S. aureus* is also considered to be the most relevant CPS, as *S. hyicus* and *S. intermedius* have only rarely been identified (Rampone *et al.*, 1993; Roberson *et al.*, 1992). However, few studies have investigated the prevalence of those CPS in mastitis, and today all bovine CPS diagnosed in routine laboratories are considered as *S. aureus* (Hogan *et al.*, 1999). When species identification of CPS is attempted, phenotypic and genotypic methods have been used.

## Phenotypic methods

Colony morphology on blood agar, pigmentation and hemolysis are not sufficient for species identification of CPS (Bannerman & Peacock, 2007; Hogan *et al.*, 1999; Roberson *et al.*, 1992). There are, however, a few tests that have been used with some success for differentiation between *S. aureus*, *S. hyicus* and *S. intermedius*, e.g. P-agar supplemented with acriflavin, anaerobic fermentation of mannitol, production of acetoin from glucose, and expression of  $\beta$ -galactosidase (Roberson *et al.*, 1992; Raus & Love, 1983; Devriese, 1981). Recently, however, conventional tests failed to distinguish between *S. aureus*, *S. intermedius* and *S. pseudintermedius* (Sasaki *et al.*, 2007b).

Several commercial identification systems have been used to improve the identification accuracy of CPS (Bascomb & Manafi, 1998; Watts & Yancey, 1994; Lammler, 1989). However, the differentiation accuracy varied markedly (38%-91%) both when human and animal isolates were tested (Bascomb & Manafi, 1998; Watts & Yancey, 1994; Watts & Washburn, 1991; Watts & Nickerson, 1986b; Watts *et al.*, 1986a).

#### Genotypic methods

In the last decade, several genes, e.g. 16SrRNA, 23SrRNA, *nuc, coa* and *tuf*, have been used for identification of *S. aureus* and other clinically important CPS using PCR-based methods. Among those methods, real-time PCR is increasingly adopted for diagnoses of CPS in humans due to its high sensitivity and specificity, and low time-consumption (Espy *et al.*, 2006;

Riffon *et al.*, 2001). For example, a PCR targeting the *nuc* gene is now becoming established in clinical microbiology laboratories for detection of *S. aureus* in blood cultures in humans (Hogg *et al.*, 2008). Similarly, Graber *et al.* (2007) developed a PCR test that allows specific detection of low concentrations of *S. aureus* in bovine milk samples. However, less encouraging results have been achieved when trying to identify CPS other than *S. aureus* (Becker *et al.*, 2005; Devriese *et al.*, 2005; Takahashi *et al.*, 1999). Other gene targets have also been proposed such as *sodA* and *hsp*60 (also called *cpn*60 or *gro*EL). They have been reported to be more divergent than 16S rRNA genes (Devriese *et al.*, 2005; Takahashi *et al.*, 1999) in staphylococcal identification, having sufficient discriminative power to differentiate between *S. delphini, S. intermedius*, and *S. pseudintermedius* (Sasaki *et al.*, 2007a). Nevertheless, as reviewed by Stephan *et al.* (2001) they are used to a lesser extent.

#### 1.1.3 Sub-typing of S. aureus

It has been recognized that *S. aureus* contains a lot of different strains. Therefore, sub-typing of *S. aureus* isolates may be a necessary procedure when investigating outbreaks of disease, sources and routes of infection, and virulence factors. Over the last decade, various phenotypic and genotypic methods have been developed and explored for their efficacy in differentiation between *S. aureus* strains.

### Phenotypic methods

Various phenotypic methods such as phage typing, and multi-locus enzyme electrophoresis (MLEE) have been used to differentiate between strains of *S. aureus*. Phage typing has several drawbacks, which confine its use to relatively few reference laboratories (Bannerman *et al.*, 1995). For example, when used in an outbreak situation, the main disadvantage was the high proportion of isolates which were non-typeable (Weller, 2000; Olive & Bean, 1999; Aarestrup *et al.*, 1995a). Even though MLEE patterns are relatively easy to read and interpret, the facts that strain comparison is difficult (application of sophisticated algorithms and computer software are needed), the technique is labour intensive, and that unrelated isolates were mistakenly included when epidemiologically linked *S. aureus* were evaluated have confined MLEE to the research laboratory (Tenover *et al.*, 1994; Mulligan & Arbeit, 1991).

#### Genotypic methods

Among genotypic methods that have been used to differentiate between *S. aureus* strains are for example pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE), ribotyping, binary-typing (BT), AFLP, and multilocus sequence typing (MLST).

PFGE is today considered to be the "gold standard", especially when typing bovine *S. aureus* (Stepan *et al.*, 2004; Olive & Bean, 1999) strains due to its excellent typeability, reproducibility (intra- and inter-laboratory), discriminatory power and easy interpretation (Zadoks *et al.*, 2002; Bannerman *et al.*, 1995). The costs involved are also moderate (Olive & Bean, 1999). The main disadvantage of PFGE is, however, that it is time consuming as it takes several days until the result is achieved.

Among other genotypic methods used, ribotyping exhibits excellent reproducibility and stability, but has lower discriminatory power than other techniques (Tenover et al., 1994; Prevost et al., 1992). As it is also time consuming and technically complicated, ribotyping has not been widely adopted for typing S. aureus (Weller, 2000). Binary-typing is a relatively new robust technique, with discriminatory power superior to that of PFGE, and will possibly become a powerful tool for strain characterization of bovine S. aureus, but is so far not widely used (Stepan et al., 2004; Weller, 2000; Zadoks et al., 2000). A disadvantage of the method is the time needed to complete the process (van Leeuwen et al., 1999; van Leeuwen et al., 1996). Amplified fragment length polymorphism fingerprinting is another method used which is easy to interpret, has high discriminatory power, good inter-laboratory reproducibility and results are obtained in two days (Olive & Bean, 1999). However, the costs are substantial, which may be prohibitive for many laboratories. Multilocus sequence typing provides a new approach to molecular epidemiology making it possible to track global spread of bacteria (Turner & Feil, 2007). The advantages of MLST are its high discriminatory power, and reproducibility, and that results can be compared between studies and between laboratories. However, it has the disadvantage of being expensive and highly work demanding as reviewed by Stepan et al. (2004).

#### 1.2 Staphylococcal bovine mastitis

As already mentioned, staphylococci are probably the most important etiological agents in bovine mastitis, and may cause both clinical and subclinical mastitis. In studies from different parts of the world staphylococci have been isolated from 27% to 69% of the mastitic cases (Ericsson Unnerstad et al., 2008; Bradley et al., 2007; Ferguson et al., 2007; Osteras et al., 2006; Reksen et al., 2006; Pitkala et al., 2004; Makovec & Ruegg, 2003; Gianneechini et al., 2002; Edinger et al., 1999; Myllys et al., 1998; Wilson et al., 1997). For example, in a Swedish nation wide study on the microbial aetiology of cases of acute clinical mastitis the genus staphylococci represented 27.5% of all bacteriological diagnoses (Ericsson Unnerstad et al., 2008).

### 1.2.1 CNS mastitis

As already mentioned, CNS is normally not identified at the species level in routine diagnostics. It has often been considered to be of minor importance as an udder pathogen (Schukken *et al.*, 2008), and the epidemiology of CNS mastitis has therefore not been studied in detail. However, recent studies on mastitis prevalence have revealed that CNS may be of major importance in some countries (Pyorala & Taponen, 2008).

The prevalence of CNS mastitis varies between studies as reviewed by Taponen, (2008). In clinical mastitis, the proportions of CNS among bacterial diagnoses range from 3.4% to 19.5% (Ericsson Unnerstad *et al.*, 2008; Olde Riekerink *et al.*, 2008; Hoe & Ruegg, 2005; Schällibaum, 2001; Hogan *et al.*, 1984). In a recent Swedish study, CNS was isolated in 6.2% of all cases of clinical mastitis (Ericsson Unnerstad *et al.*, 2008). In sub-clinical mastitis, the proportions of CNS positive quarters ranged from 4% to 35% (Thorberg, 2008; Bradley *et al.*, 2007; Pol & Ruegg, 2007; Tenhagen *et al.*, 2006; Chaffer *et al.*, 1999; Wilson *et al.*, 1997; Aarestrup *et al.*, 1995b; Birgersson *et al.*, 1992). A national survey on etiological cases in sub-clinical mastitis has so far not been performed in Sweden, but it is estimated that CNS accounts for approximately 25% of bacteriological findings in these cases (Anonymous, 2007).

Large surveys on prevalence of different CNS species in clinical and subclinical mastitis are rare. Among studies made, *S. chromogenes, S. epidermidis, S. hyicus,* and *S. simulans,* seem to be the most common CNS isolated from intra-mammary infections in spite of some variation between herds, countries, and methods used (Taponen *et al.,* 2008; Luthje & Schwarz, 2006; Taponen *et al.,* 2006; Birgersson *et al.,* 1992).

Although some studies have been performed to identify the reservoirs of CNS involved in bovine mastitis, the epidemiology of this group of udder pathogens is not well known. Bovine CNS have traditionally been considered as skin flora opportunists (Hogan & Pankey, 1987). In line with this, a wide range of CNS species have been isolated from different body sites in cows, heifers and calves, but CNS have also been isolated from the

cows' environment (Taponen et al., 2008; Thorberg et al., 2006; Matos et al., 1991; Trinidad et al., 1990; White et al., 1989; Devriese & De Keyser, 1980). The identification of different CNS on body sites and in the environment is, however, based on the use of different methods making interpretation sometimes difficult. Using conventional or commercial biochemical methods, S. chromogenes was frequently isolated from the teat skin, and teat canal, but also from extra-mammary sites like nares, hair coat and vagina in heifers (De Vliegher et al., 2003; White et al., 1989). According to Matos et al. (1991), however, S. cohnii, S. saprophyticus, S. sciuri, and S. xylosus, were the most common in the cows' environment (e.g. alfalfa hay, straw and bedding). Moreover, Taponen et al. (2008) found that S. equorum and S. sciuri were the predominant CNS species in extramammary samples when using phenotypic methods, but when using ribotyping, S. succinus and S. xylosus were the predominant CNS species. Using PFGE, Taponen et al. (2008) found that S. chromogenes isolates identified from udder skin and in milk were of the same PT. Thorberg et al. (2006), also using PFGE, found the same S. epidermidis PT in samples from humans as in milk samples in the same herd. S. simulans was not a common finding in samples from teat canal or the bovine udder skin (Taponen et al., 2008).

Results from different studies indicate that some CNS, such as S. chromogenes and S. simulans, are more prone to cause persistent infections than other species (Thorberg, 2008; Taponen et al., 2007; Taponen et al., 2006; Matthews et al., 1992). Other studies also reported that S. chromogenes and S. simulans may cause more severe mastitis than other CNS (Zhang & Maddox, 2000; Birgersson et al., 1991 ). Taponen et al. (2006) found no significant differences in the severity of the clinical signs or in the bacterial cure between S. chromogenes and S. simulans. Few studies have, however, investigated virulence factors in different CNS isolated from mastitis. According to Anaya-Lopez et al. (2006) S. epidermidis isolates were able to invade bovine mammary epithelial cells in vitro at similar levels as the S. aureus control strain. Biofilm production has not only been found in S. aureus, but also in S. epidermidis, S. chromogenes, S. hyicus and S. xylosus isolated from bovine mastitis (Oliveira et al., 2006; Cucarella et al., 2004). More studies are needed to clarify the epidemiology of different CNS in dairy herds.

Very little information is available about prevention of CNS mastitis, reflecting the fact that mastitis control measurements have usually been targeted against other udder pathogens. Control measurements such as postmilking teat disinfection have been suggested to reduce CNS infections and CNS mastitis (Taponen, 2008; Lam *et al.*, 1997; Eberhart *et al.*, 1983). Dry cow therapy is generally accepted to be an effective tool for mastitis control, but the information on its effect against CNS mastitis is scarce (Lam *et al.*, 1997; Eberhart *et al.*, 1983). According to preliminary studies of Rajala-Schultz *et al.* (2008) CNS may persist after dry-cow therapy. Moreover, Robert *et al.* (2006) performed a meta-analysis evaluating the general efficacy of dry cow therapy, and found that no clear trend was observed in the difference in incidence between untreated and treated quarters of CNS intra-mammary infections. Antimicrobial treatment of heifers before parturition reduced the number of clinical cases, was considered economically beneficial, but did not protect the heifers from new infections (Borm *et al.*, 2006; Middleton *et al.*, 2005; Oliver *et al.*, 2004; Oliver *et al.*, 2003).

### 1.2.2 CPS mastitis with emphasis on S. aureus

Little information is available on bovine mastitis due to *S. hyicus* and *S. intermedius*, but the proportions of *S. aureus*, *S. hyicus* and *S. intermedius* found were rather similar despite differences in methods and material used (Roberson *et al.*, 1996; Calzolari *et al.*, 1995; Rampone *et al.*, 1993; Botha & Brand, 1987). As an example, Roberson *et al.* (1996) found 82.1% *S aureus*, 17.7% *S. hyicus*, and 0.2% *S intermedius* among 487 CPS isolates studied. Due to the predominance of *S. aureus* among CPS in bovine mastitis, the remaining part of this section will concentrate on *S. aureus* mastitis.

*S. aureus* is mostly considered as a contagious udder pathogen, commonly spread within and between cows at milking (Fox & Gay, 1993). Due to its contagious nature it has become a major udder pathogen in many parts of the world. It may cause both clinical and sub-clinical mastitis, responds poorly to antimicrobial therapy, and often results in long-lasting chronic infections (Sol *et al.*, 2000; Fox & Gay, 1993; Bramley & Dodd, 1984).

The prevalence of *S. aureus* in clinical mastitis range from 3.3% to 40% (Ericsson Unnerstad *et al.*, 2008; Olde Riekerink *et al.*, 2008; Bradley *et al.*, 2007; Ferguson *et al.*, 2007; Waage *et al.*, 1999; Elbers *et al.*, 1998). In a recent nation wide Swedish study on the microbial aetiology of cases of clinical mastitis in Sweden *S. aureus* accounted for 21.3% of all bacteriological diagnoses (Ericsson Unnerstad *et al.*, 2008). In sub-clinical mastitis, the proportion of *S. aureus* isolates has been studied in some countries and regions, and ranged between 3.2% and 63% (Bradley *et al.*, 2007; Tenhagen *et al.*, 2006; Pitkala *et al.*, 2004; Gianneechini *et al.*, 2002). In Sweden, a national survey on sub-clinical mastitis has not been performed

so far, but it is estimated that *S. aureus* constitutes approximately 40% of bacteriological findings in these cases (Anonymous, 2007).

Following the general realization that different strains of *S. aureus* exist several reports have revealed the presence of different strains of *S. aureus* in bovine mastitis. According to those studies a few predominant strains of *S. aureus*, often widely distributed among herds across geographic regions, were associated with most of the udder infections (Mork *et al.*, 2005; Smith *et al.*, 2005; Sabour *et al.*, 2004; Buzzola *et al.*, 2001; Aarestrup *et al.*, 1997; Rivas *et al.*, 1997; Kapur *et al.*, 1995; Matthews *et al.*, 1994; Musser *et al.*, 1990). Regional differences in the distribution of strains have, however, also been described (Sabour *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, in a specific herd it is common to find a predominant strain, which tends to be unique for the herd (Joo *et al.*, 2001; Rivas *et al.*, 1997).

The probability of udder infection increases if the host has direct contact with the reservoirs of pathogens, or indirect contact via fomites (Zecconi et al., 2006a). Reservoirs and fomites of pathogens like S. aureus can be traced by pheno- and genotyping of the bacteria. A number of studies investigating potential reservoirs and fomites of S. aureus in dairy farms have been (Haveri et al., 2008; Piccinini et al., 2008; Jorgensen et al., 2005; Middleton et al., 2002a; Zadoks et al., 2002; Larsen et al., 2000; Roberson et al., 1998; Roberson et al., 1994b; Fox et al., 1991; Matos et al., 1991; Davidson, 1961; Spencer & Lasmanis, 1952). Most of these studies investigated extramammary sites associated with spread of infection at milking such as teat skin of lactating cows, teat and udder skin lesions, milking liners, milkers` hands and nostrils. Only a few studies investigated the presence of S. aureus isolates on other body sites of the lactating cow, in other age groups of cattle, in the environment of the animals, in humans, or in bulk milk and raw-milk products (Jorgensen et al., 2005; Roberson et al., 1998; Roberson et al., 1994b; Matos et al., 1991). In the studies of Roberson et al. (1994b; Matos et al. (1991) and Roberson et al. (1998) different body sites of heifers and cows were sampled and found S. aureus positive in varying proportions. As an example, samples from nares, hair coat, teat canal, vagina and perineum in heifers, and from wounds on udders and teats of lactating cows, were frequently found positive for S. aureus (Matos et al., 1991). In the study of Roberson et al. (1998), possible sources of S. aureus in heifer colostrum were found mainly in milk from lactating cows, but also in various body and environment samples. The proportions of positive samples varied between sites and between herds. In many of the above-mentioned studies identification of S. aureus was made on species level and not on strain level.

For correct identification of reservoirs and fomites for udder infections identification on strain level is essential as several S. aureus strains may occur in the same herd (Piccinini et al., 2008; Sommerhauser et al., 2003). Among studies trying to find S. aureus strains associated with intra-mammary infections in extra-mammary sites only some (Haveri et al., 2008; Piccinini et al., 2008; Jorgensen et al., 2005; Middleton et al., 2002b; Zadoks et al., 2002) used PFGE, which today is considered the gold standard for typing of bovine S. aureus (Zadoks et al., 2002; Bannerman et al., 1995). In those studies, S. aureus strains of the same genotype as in milk from bovine mastitis were found in samples from teat skin, teat canal, milkers' hands and nostrils, and teat and udder wounds, as well as in bulk milk, and various raw-milk products. To our knowledge, no study has investigated hock lesions as a potential reservoir of S. aureus. Hock lesions is a common finding in some housing systems (Rutherford et al., 2008; Fulwider et al., 2007; Weary & Taszkun, 2000), and an association between hock lesions and high milk somatic cell count (SCC) has been reported (Fulwider et al., 2007).

According to several recent studies, strains of S. aureus may vary in virulence, resulting in varying severity of mastitis, ability to spread in and between cows and herds, ability to cause persistent udder infections, and ability to survive in extra-mammary sites (Fournier et al., 2008; Piccinini et al., 2008; Haveri et al., 2007; Dingwell et al., 2006; Zecconi et al., 2006b; Brouillette et al., 2003; Sommerhauser et al., 2003; Larsen et al., 2000; Zadoks et al., 2000; Dziewanowska et al., 1999). It is very likely that S. aureus strains, which are predominant in a herd, are well-adapted for colonization and survival in both intra-mammary (Fournier et al., 2008; Mork et al., 2005; Smith et al., 2005; Buzzola et al., 2001; Kapur et al., 1995) and extra-mammary sites (Haveri et al., 2008; Piccinini et al., 2008; Jorgensen et al., 2005). These strains are likely to express virulence factors of great importance. For example, it has recently been observed that the presence of genes encoding for protein A, fibronectin-binding proteins, haemolysin, leukocidins and pyrogenic toxin superantigen facilitate the invasion into and the persistence of S. aureus in the bovine mammary gland (Piccinini et al., 2008; Haveri et al., 2007; Brouillette et al., 2003; Dziewanowska et al., 1999). In line with this, some relation have been found between the virulence gene patterns of the S. aureus strains and subclinical mastitis (Fournier et al., 2008; Zecconi et al., 2006b). In the study of (Fournier et al., 2008) the predominant S. aureus strain was only observed in herds having severe udder health problems, e.g. high prevalence of infections and often more than one quarter infected per cow. In the study of Haveri et al. (2005) inflammation of the udder varied between PTs, which

supported the notion of an association between PTs and severity of symptoms. Recently, Anderson & Lyman, (2006b) and Anderson *et al.* (2006a) also reported that antimicrobial resistance and persistence of infection were associated with particular *S. aureus* strain isolated from herds having problems due to high SCC and decreased milk production.

Various programs to control *S. aureus* mastitis have been introduced over the years. Important measures like post-milking teat disinfection, use of individual towels for udder cleaning, and properly functioning milking technique were recommended to stop new infections. Elimination of mammary infections by dry cow therapy, or culling of chronic cases were other important measures taken (Bramley & Dodd, 1984; Philpot, 1984; Philpot, 1979; Neave *et al.*, 1969). Later on, other recommendations have been added such as strict milking order and segregation of the infected animals.

Although a great deal of progress in mastitis control has taken place over the years, resulting in a reduction in S. aureus infections in many herds, in other herds it has not been possible to eradicate the problem (Roberson et al., 1998). As an example, some farms in USA experienced an outbreak of S. aureus mastitis despite excellent control practices (Middleton et al., 2001; Smith et al., 1998). Moreover, despite the application of standard mastitis control practices, several S. aureus strains persisted for a long time, and were associated with herd problems, with increased milk SCC and decreased milk production (Anderson & Lyman, 2006b). There may be different reasons for the failure to eradicate S. aureus despite the use of above-mentioned control measures. For example, control measures for mastitis do little to control S. aureus infections in prepartum heifers (Roberson et al., 1998). Also, cure rates for dry-cow therapy have been low, and are ineffective in prevention of new S. aureus infections in the late dry period, and at calving (Eberhart & Buckalew, 1977). Another factor of importance is the risk of introducing S. aureus into the herd by purchasing infected replacement animals. Lately, the possibility of other sources of infection has been suggested, as Sommerhauser et al. (2003) found that several S. aureus strains showed a pattern described as characteristic of environmental pathogens, with low or no tendency to spread within a herd. Hence, these strains could not be efficiently controlled by the contagious control program, which at the same time was proven efficient against S. aureus types having a contagious pattern. This supports the notion (Sommerhauser et al., 2003; Kapur et al., 1995) that control programs must consider the particular epidemiological features of the S. aureus udder pathogens, especially in prevention of new infections.

# 2 Aims of the study

The general aim of the thesis was to improve the knowledge of bacterial diagnostics and epidemiology of staphylococcal mastitis in Sweden.

More specifically the main aims were:

- To study the relative occurrence of *S. aureus*, *S. intermedius*, and *S. hyicus* among CPS isolated from cases of bovine mastitis.
- To establish a relevant and accurate typing scheme for differentiation between S. aureus, S. intermedius, and S. hyicus.
- To compare some phenotypic and genotypic methods for species identification of CNS isolated from bovine mastitis.
- To examine the genotypic diversity among S. aureus isolated from cases of acute clinical mastitis, and to investigate genotypic differences between geographical regions.
- To identify potential sources of infection relevant for S. aureus mastitis within problem herds by sampling body sites and the environment of different animal groups.

# 3 Material and methods

A detailed description of material and methods are given in Papers I-IV. Here, a short summary of the most important parts is presented.

# 3.1 Bacterial isolates

#### 3.1.1 Reference strains

In Paper I, five reference strains (2 *S. aureus*, 1 *S. intermedius*, 2 *S. hyicus*) were used. In Paper II, 24 reference strains of 18 different staphylococcal species were included, and 1 *S. aureus* reference strain was used in Papers III-IV.

#### 3.1.2 Field isolates

In Paper I, a total of 414 CPS isolates were included. All isolates were obtained from bovine milk samples sent to the Mastitis laboratory at the National Veterinary Institute. The majority of the isolates (n=327) were from sub-clinical cases of mastitis while 87 originated in cases of clinical mastitis. The strains were divided in two groups, material A consisting of 177 isolates irrespective of type of hemolysis reaction, and material B consisting of 237 isolates, with no hemolysis reaction or  $\alpha$ -hemolysis on bovine blood agar.

In Papers II and III, staphylococcal isolates originating in milk samples collected in a national survey on prevalence of udder pathogens in cases of acute clinical mastitis conducted in 2002-2003 were used. Sixty-four presumptive CNS isolates were included in Paper II and 82 *S. aureus* isolates in Paper III. Twenty CNS isolates from cases of sub-clinical mastitis sent to the Mastitis laboratory were also included in Paper II.

In Paper IV, 361 S. aureus isolates originating in five herds with S. aureus mastitis problems were included. They consisted of 82 milk isolates, 187

body sample isolates, 80 isolates from environmental samples close to the animals, and 12 isolates from other areas. Each herd was visited two or three times within a period of one to two weeks between December 2006 and March 2007. In the herds, 755 quarter milk samples were collected once from 192 lactating cows. In addition, 1906 samples were collected once from body sites (teat skin, groin, vagina, nares/muzzle, hock skin, teat/udder skin, and other skin wounds (if present) and umbilical area (calves only)) of one side of 192 lactating cows, 48 dry cows, 30 late pregnant heifers (<3 months before calving), 49 young heifers 4-12 months old, and 52 heifer calves 0-3 months old. Samples (n=866) were also taken from the close environment of the animals (housing (stanchion bars and cubicle surfaces), water cups, under the rubber mats (when present), feed bunks, feed and bedding) close to each group of animals. Some samples (n=283) were also taken from companion animals present in the herd (nose, under paws), from milkers (nares, hands, boots), and from some general areas (air, flies, storage of feed and bedding, tools, milking equipment). Information on management and housing in each herd was collected using a specially designed questionnaire. Hock skins of lactating cows were scored as intact, with hair loss or with wounds.

## 3.2 Bacteriological methods

## 3.2.1 Cultivation methods and phenotypic characterisation (Papers I-IV)

#### Quarter milk samples (Papers I-IV)

In all studies, growth of staphylococci in milk was evaluated after culturing 10µl milk on 5% bovine blood agar with 0.05% esculine and incubation at 37°C for 16-24 h. In paper IV the culturing of milk on blood agar was preceded by 16 h. incubation at 37°C. *S. aureus* was identified by typical colony morphology, and  $\alpha\beta$  hemolysis. When only  $\alpha$ -hemolysis or no hemolysis zones were present coagulase reaction was performed. Coagulase-positive isolates were tested further (Paper I) or considered as *S. aureus* (Papers III-IV). A milk sample was classified as positive if at least one colony-forming unit (CFU) of *S. aureus* per 10µl was isolated.

In Paper I, CPS were differentiated using the following tests; ability to grow on P-agar supplemented with acriflavin, acetoin test, anaerobic and aerobic fermentation of mannitol, culture on purple agar with 1% maltose,  $\beta$ -galactosidase test, hemolytic reaction on chocolate agar, and synergistic hemolysis test (CAMP-like). In addition, the Accuprobe® *S. aureus* culture

identification test was used on a few isolates each of *S. aureus*, *S. intermedius* and *S. hyicus*.

CNS were identified by phenotypic appearance, and negative coagulase reaction, and by the Staph-Zym<sup>TM</sup> system (Paper II). Supplementary tests were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions.

#### Other samples (Paper IV)

Swab samples from body sites and environmental sites were stored sterile in test tubes containing liquid Vogel-Johnson (VJ) medium, refrigerated over night, adjusted to room temperature for one to two hours, and incubated at 37°C for 4 h. Then, 10µl of sample was cultured on 5% bovine blood agar with esculine and on modified Baird-Parker agar (MBP). The blood and MBP agar plates were incubated at 37°C for 16-24 h and 48 h, respectively. Bedding and feed samples were frozen after sampling, thawed in room temperature and processed by mixing 90 ml of VJ medium with 10g material in a stomacher for 120 sec. The bags were incubated at 37°C for 4 h, and 10µl of the sample mix were inoculated on 5% bovine blood agar with esculine and MBP agar. Flies and air filters were thawed in room temperature. The flies were placed into sterile test tubes containing VJ medium. The air filter was cut into small pieces and placed into a sterile test tube containing VJ medium. The fly and air filter samples were processed as described for body and environment samples in VJ.

Growth of *S. aureus* on blood agar was identified as described for milk samples. Reverse Camp reaction and growth in P-agar was also evaluated. Growth of *S. aureus* on MBP agar was evaluated as follow. From each MBP agar plate, a maximum of 4 CFU with black, dark gray, or shiny brown appearance, with or without clear zones, were also cultured on 5% bovine blood agar with esculine. Growth on blood agar was evaluated as described for milk samples.

#### Storage of isolates (Papers I-IV)

Staphylococcal isolates were stored in trypticase soy broth containing 15% glycerol at  $-20^{\circ}$ C (Papers I-III) or at  $-70^{\circ}$ C (Paper IV).

### Antimicrobial susceptibility (Papers II-III)

Isolates were tested for antimicrobial susceptibility by determination of minimum inhibitory concentrations using a microdilution method (Paper II) and/or examined for  $\beta$ -lactamase production by the clover-leaf method (Papers II-III).

### 3.2.2 Genotypic methods (Papers II-IV)

Genotypic identification of CNS species (Paper II) was performed using *tuf* gene sequencing after DNA extraction and amplification. The *tuf* gene sequences were translated to amino acid sequences and aligned with ClustalW Multiple Sequence Alignment tool and a rooted phylogenetic tree was constructed.

In Papers III and IV, PFGE of *S. aureus* isolates was carried out according to the Harmony protocol. Macrorestriction patterns were analysed by visual inspection (Paper IV), or by using visual inspection and Gelcompare software (BioNumerics, version 5.0; Applied Maths BVBA) to calculate Dice coefficients of correlation and to generate a dendrogram by the unweighted pair group method using arithmetic averages clustering (Paper III). Isolates with identical restriction profiles were assigned the same PFGE PT.

## 3.3 Statistics

In Paper III, differences in distribution of PTs between regions were evaluated using Fisher's exact test. The same test was used to evaluate differences in breed, parity, and presence of teat lesions between the three most common PTs, and between regions. In Paper IV, associations between presence of *S. aureus* in milk and on hock skin, and between presence of *S. aureus* on hock skin and presence of hair loss or wounds on hock skin were evaluated using logistic regression.

# 4 Results

Here, a summary of the most important results obtained in Papers I-IV is given. A detailed description is given in the papers.

# 4.1 Species identification of CPS (Paper I)

CPS isolates (n=403) positive on P-agar with acriflavin, and in anaerobic and aerobic mannitol fermentation tests were determined as *S. aureus*. These strains were negative in the  $\beta$ -galactosidase test, and CAMP-like test and showed no hemolysis on chocolate agar. Eight isolates positive in the aerobic mannitol fermentation test and the  $\beta$ -galactosidase test were considered as *S. intermedius*. These isolates were negative on P-agar with acriflavin, the anaerobic mannitol fermentation test, and the CAMP-like tests, and showed no hemolytic reaction on chocolate agar. Three isolates were determined as *S. hyicus*. They were positive in the CAMP-like test, gave a hemolytic reaction on chocolate agar, and were negative in the other tests. Among the 21 CPS strains tested all *S. aureus* strains (n=10) were positive in the Accuprobe<sup>®</sup> test while the other CPS strains were negative.

In both materials A and B the proportions of *S. aureus*, *S. intermedius* and *S. hyicus* were 97%, 2% and 1%, respectively. The species distribution was similar within isolates from clinical and sub-clinical cases of mastitis.

# 4.2 Species identification of CNS (Paper II)

#### 4.2.1 Prevalence of CNS species and antimicrobial resistance

Among the 82 CNS milk isolates, nine species were identified using tuf gene sequencing. S. chromogenes (27%) and S. simulans (24%) were the most common findings followed by S. haemolyticus (15%), S. epidermidis (12%), S. hyicus (11%), S. warneri (5%), S. xylosus (2%), S. aureus (2%) and S. lentus

(1%). Antimicrobial resistance was found in 15 (18%) of the 82 isolates. Most (87%) of those cases were due to  $\beta$ -lactamase production. One *S. epidermidis* isolate was multi-resistant.

## 4.2.2 Comparison between *tuf* gene sequencing and Staph-Zym<sup>™</sup>

Staph-ZymTM identified 20 (83%) of the 24 reference strains correctly. Compared to tuf gene sequencing only 50 (61%) of 82 milk isolates were correctly identified by the Staph-ZymTM system. Using this system, supplementary tests were needed in 50% of the reference strains and 34% of the milk isolates. Two (8%) reference strains and 23 (28%) milk isolates were misjudged by Staph-ZymTM as a different CNS species.

### 4.3 S. aureus pulsotypes in acute clinical mastitis (Paper III)

Among the 82 *S. aureus* isolates investigated 25 PTs arbitrary designated A-Y were found. Pulsotype U (25.6%) was the most common type followed by PTs Q (15.9%) and E (11.0%). Most (72%) of the PTs were only found once or twice.

Alfa/beta hemolysis ( $\alpha\beta$ ) or  $\alpha$ -hemolysis was found in 54 (66%) and 28 (34%) of the *S. aureus* isolates, respectively. Among PTs with at least two isolates, the same hemolysis type ( $\alpha\beta$  or  $\alpha$ ) was found in all isolates of 6 PTs (A, E, N, T, U, V), while both hemolysis types ( $\alpha\beta$  and  $\alpha$ ) were found in 5 PTs (B, K, P, Q, W). All isolates of the most common PT (U) had  $\alpha\beta$ -haemolysis.  $\beta$ -lactamase production was found in 7 (9%) of all isolates. These isolates belonged to 7 PTs (B, E, I, J, M, W, Y). In PTs B, E and W the majority of the isolates did not produce  $\beta$ -lactamase. None of the isolates of the most common PT (U) produced  $\beta$ -lactamase.

In total, 15, 11 and 12 PTs were found in the northern, middle and southern region, respectively. Regional differences in the distribution of the three most common PTs (U, Q and E) were found. Pulsotype U was significantly less common in the southern region than in the middle region, while PT E was more common in the southern region than in the northern and middle regions. Regional breed differences were also observed with significantly more Swedish Holstein cows in the southern region than in the northern and middle regions. Parity and presence of teat lesions did not differ between regions.

The Swedish Holstein-breed was significantly more common than the Swedish Red-breed in PT E compared to in PT U. Parity and presence of teat lesions did not differ between these three PTs.

# 4.4 Identification of potential sources of *S. aureus* in herds with mastitis problems (Paper IV)

In the five dairy herds studied, the overall prevalence of milk samples positive for *S. aureus* (Sa+) was 11%. Among all lactating cows, 27% and 56% were Sa+ in milk and body samples, respectively. The proportions of Sa+ cows varied markedly between herds with the highest numbers in herds I-III. *S. aureus* was found in a varying frequency in all body sites sampled in lactating cows, but most frequently in hock skin samples. Overall, 53% of hock skin samples in this group were Sa+, but it was more common to find *S. aureus* if hock lesions were present than if the skin was intact. The prevalence of hock lesions in lactating cows was 54%, on average. It varied between herds, and was most common in herds I and II. It was most common, however, to find *S. aureus* in hock skin in herd III. Among other animal groups *S. aureus* was most frequently found in body samples of heifer calves. Skin wounds, umbilical cord and vagina were the sites having most Sa+ samples.

*S. aureus* was also found in environment samples, but not as often as in body samples. It was most common to find Sa+ samples in the environment of lactating cows, and stanchion bars and cubicle surfaces, bedding and water cups were the most common sites.

All isolated *S. aureus* strains were subjected to PFGE analysis, and in each herd, 4-6 unique PTs were found, of which one was predominant in milk samples of that herd. These PTs was also the most frequent finding in all samples of the different animal groups. In herds I, IV and V more than one PT was found in milk samples. Pulsotypes, not predominant in milk were rarely found in other samples with one exception, PT VC in herd V, which was the most frequently isolated PT in body samples in that herd. In herd IV the predominant PT in milk was not isolated from body sites of lactating cows, but was isolated from body sites of dry cows.

# 5 General Discussion

## 5.1 Species differentiation of staphylococci in bovine mastitis

Species identification of staphylococci is essential in bovine mastitis as this group of bacteria is the most prevalent udder pathogen in many parts of the world including Sweden. As mentioned, such differentiation can be performed using phenotypic and/or genotypic methods. The first criterion used for differentiation of staphylococci is the coagulase test separating the group into CPS and CNS. In most routine diagnostic laboratories today, bovine udder pathogens of these groups of bacteria are not identified at the species level. As new knowledge on staphylococcal mastitis is gathered such differentiation may, however be necessary in the future. The choice of methods to use for species differentiation may be affected by a number of factors, but economical issues and ease-of-use are of large importance especially in routine diagnostics. Independent of such factors the methods used should be reliable without risk for misidentification. In the present thesis, the aim was to differentiate between species within CPS and CNS using various approaches.

#### 5.1.1 Differentiation of CPS

For differentiation of CPS a number of phenotypic tests were selected, which were considered appropriate at the time of the study. Three of those tests, P-agar with acriflavin,  $\beta$ -galactosidase, and hemolytic reaction in chocolate agar, were considered suitable for differentiation between *S. aureus*, *S. hyicus* and *S. intermedius* (Paper I). These tests were selected as they have high accuracy in identifying each species, are easy to read and perform, and have relatively low costs. Moreover, all species were positive only in one of the tests. Since the study was performed new information on CPS has become available and new techniques have been developed.

A new CPS species, *S. pseudintermedius*, has been identified in samples from various animals and birds (Devriese *et al.*, 2005), but has so far not been identified in bovine samples. This species is closely related to *S. intermedius*, making differentiation between these two species difficult (Sasaki *et al.*, 2007b). Previous studies have shown genotypic and phenotypic variation among *S. intermedius* strains (Becker *et al.*, 2005; Futagawa-Saito *et al.*, 2004; Bes *et al.*, 2002; Aarestrup, 2001), which may indicate that at least some of those isolates actually belonged to *S. pseudintermedius*. As *S. pseudintermedius* is negative and positive in anaerobic fermentation of mannitol and  $\beta$ -galactosidase, respectively (Sasaki *et al.*, 2007b), it is not possible to state if the isolates identified in the present thesis (Paper I) belonged to *S. intermedius* or *S. pseudintermedius*. Moreover, it is not known if *S. pseudintermedius* can grow on P-agar with acriflavin or not.

Our study also revealed the dominance of S. aureus among CPS in Swedish milk isolates from cases of bovine mastitis. This supports the routine diagnostic procedure used today, which assumes that all CPS are S. aureus. Nowadays a nuc gene based PCR specific for S. aureus is often used in routine diagnostics to differentiate S. aureus from other CPS species (Graber et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2001). However, when atypical colonies appear the use of P-agar with acriflavin is recommended as an easy and cheap method to differentiate S. aureus from other CPS. This test in combination with antimicrobial susceptibility testing may be sufficient in most situations. In research, however, more detailed species identification may be needed. The prevalence of different CPS in bovine mastitis may also vary between countries and regions. Thus, if the situation is not known the prevalence of various CPS should be investigated. The knowledge on virulence and epidemiology of CPS mastitis other than S. aureus is very limited. If the prevalence of mastitis due to CPS other than S. aureus increases such studies should therefore be performed.

#### 5.1.2 Differentiation of CNS

The results generated in this thesis (Paper II) clearly show that *tuf* gene sequencing is superior to the commercial system used, Staph-Zym<sup>TM</sup>, for differentiation among CNS from bovine milk. This is in line with recent findings of Sampimon *et al.* (2008) comparing two commercial systems, Staph-Zym<sup>TM</sup> and API Staph ID 32, with sequencing of *rpoB*. In both studies, the commercial system was sometimes not able to give a species name to an isolate, but more seriously, misidentification of isolates was common.

Commercial systems for differentiation of CNS are based on a selection of phenotypic methods. A weakness of such methods is that there is an inherent variability in expression of phenotypic features among isolates of the same species (Heikens et al., 2005; Bannerman et al., 1993). In addition, the lack of adequate reference strains in the accompanying databases of commercial systems reduces the chance to identify isolates tested (Renneberg et al., 1995). Moreover, data on different species are based on very few reference strains of each species (Becker et al., 2004). These isolates mostly originate in humans, and only occasionally in animals. As the phenotypic variation among field isolates may be substantial, given the selective pressure from the environment, it is not surprising that identification difficulties may occur. In addition, supplementary tests are commonly needed when using commercial systems (Sampimon et al., 2008; Thorberg & Brändström, 2000). According to our results and other studies (Sampimon et al., 2008; Burriel & Scott, 1997), the use of such tests does not, however, improve the accuracy of identification.

Given the results of this thesis, *tuf* gene sequencing could be recommended as a reference method for differentiation of bovine CNS, and used in research studies aiming at investigating specific species of CNS. Unfortunately, the method is expensive as it needs special resources making it less suitable for routine diagnostics. Based on knowledge on phenotypic methods available today it is not recommended to differentiate between CNS in bovine mastitis in routine diagnostics. In certain situations, such as herd problems with CNS mastitis and in countries having a high prevalence of CNS mastitis, there is, however, a need for an adequate and easy-to-perform method for reliable and rapid differentiation of at least the most pathogenic CNS. Such a system, based on a limited number of phenotypic tests, has been suggested for use on bovine milk isolates (Thorberg & Brändström, 2000). The system needs, however, to be validated using *tuf* gene sequencing.

### 5.2 Epidemiology of S. aureus mastitis

As mentioned earlier studies from different countries reported that few a predominant strains of *S. aureus*, were associated with most intra-mammary infections, both studies on variation between and within regions, and within dairy herds (Mork *et al.*, 2005; Smith *et al.*, 2005; Sommerhauser *et al.*, 2003; Buzzola *et al.*, 2001; Joo *et al.*, 2001; Aarestrup *et al.*, 1997; Kapur *et al.*, 1995). However, differences in the distribution of *S. aureus* strains between regions have also been reported (Sabour *et al.*, 2004). Other studies

have investigated the presence of *S. aureus* on extra-mammary sites within herds (Haveri *et al.*, 2008; Piccinini *et al.*, 2008; Jorgensen *et al.*, 2005; Larsen *et al.*, 2000; Roberson *et al.*, 1994b; Matos *et al.*, 1991; Davidson, 1961). In many studies identification was, however, made on species level and not on strain level. Identification on strain level is essential to make a correct evaluation of the spread of *S. aureus* within a region or herd. Today, PFGE is considered the gold standard for sub-typing of bovine *S. aureus* due to its excellent typeability, reproducibility, discriminatory power and easy interpretation (Zadoks *et al.*, 2002; Bannerman *et al.*, 1995).

#### 5.2.1 Epidemiology of S. aureus in Swedish dairy herds

The results generated in this thesis (Paper III) revealed a rather high diversity at the country level among *S. aureus* PTs originating in acute cases of clinical mastitis, but it was also clear that some PTs were more common than others indicating spread between herds. When studying individual farms with udder health problems (Paper IV) a relatively low diversity of PTs was found within each herd, and the PTs were unique for each herd. In each herd, however, a predominant strain of *S. aureus* was found in milk, which is in concordance with other studies (Haveri *et al.*, 2008; Joo *et al.*, 2001).

The number of S. aureus strains in a herd may increase after importation of cattle (Haveri et al., 2008; Middleton et al., 2002b). Today many Swedish dairy herds increase their herd size markedly, which in many cases requires purchasing of animals from other herds and regions of the country. By doing so, they run a risk of introducing new strains of S. aureus udder pathogens, which can be spread throughout the herd despite good milking hygiene and mastitis control procedures (Smith et al., 1998). Based on the results of paper IV, purchasing any type of cattle from herds with udder health problems due to S. aureus should be avoided as S. aureus may be present not only in the udder and body sites of lactating cows, but to a varying degree also in body sites of animals in other age groups. In general, it is recommended to buy heifers rather than cows, as udder infections are less common in heifers. In our study, the lowest risk of finding S. aureus on body sites occurred in 4-12 months old heifers, which was in line with Roberson et al. (1994a). In another study Matos et al. (1991), however, S. aureus was frequently found also in this age group. A draw-back with our study was that we did not sample udder secretion from heifers. Intramammary infections of S. aureus have been observed in other countries both in unbred and pregnant heifers (Trinidad et al., 1990). Thus, such a reservoir cannot be excluded in our herds.

*S. aureus* mastitis control programs have had limited success in some herds indicating that the programs need to be updated. The results generated in this thesis (paper IV) clearly show important herd differences in bacterial epidemiology indicating that control strategies should be designed for each herd. In each herd, a unique predominant PT was found in milk, and in three herds this PT was commonly found in body and environment sites, especially in lactating cows. In another herd, it was, however, uncommon to find *S. aureus* in body and environment samples, while a different PT was often found in body sites than in milk in yet another herd. These differences suggest expression of different virulence factors in the PTs, and/or differences in herd management resulting in easier spread between animals in some herds than in others.

Thus, to develop successful control strategies for a herd, knowledge of important reservoirs for *S. aureus* in that herd is essential. Based on this knowledge it can be decided if control measures other than those related to spread of *S. aureus* at milking should be adopted. To gather such knowledge it may be worthwhile to take samples from selected body and environment sites of lactating cows, such as hock skin, and stanchion bars and cubicle surfaces, to find out if *S. aureus* is present or not. If so, PFGE should be performed to compare PTs found in such samples with PTs found in milk isolated from mastitic cows.

Segregation and culling of cows with intra-mammary infections are important control tool to stop spread of infections within herds. In some of the herds in our study, however, S. aureus was found in body samples of many lactating cows without intra-mammary infections. Hock lesions were by far the most important reservoir in those cows, but S. aureus was also found on intact hock skin. Thus, strategies for prevention of hock lesions and treatment of hock skin infections should be developed. Moreover, the findings of S. aureus in the environment of lactating cows highlights the need for good hygienic conditions in the cubicles. Thorough cleaning of the cubicles between animals is therefore an important measure to stop spread between animals for example when animals are moving between cubicles to achieve a better milking order in a tie-stall barn. The risk of contamination of bedding and housing, for example via milk leakage or infected hock lesions, should be considered also in free-stall barns. Transfer of bacteria between body sites and/or environment sites, or within and between cows, could also occur for example by licking or rubbing.

Following lactating cows, it was most common to find samples positive for *S. aureus* among heifer calves. In that group, *S. aureus* was mainly found in body sites such as skin wounds and the umbilical cord area, but *S. aureus*  was also sometimes found in environment samples, at least in some herds. It is likely that S. aureus was spread from lactating cows to calves via air or flies, or by feeding milk containing S. aureus. Spread of infection between calves could occur for example by inter-suckling. Whether presence of S. aureus on the body of calves is a risk for S. aureus mastitis later in life or not has been debated. A link between feeding milk from mastitic cows to calves and mastitis has been proven for Streptococcus agalactiae, but Barto et al. (1982) did not consider it as a major risk for S. aureus mastitis. Udder and teat canal colonization or infections with S. aureus have, however, been found in unbred heifers and primigravid dairy heifers (Trinidad et al., 1990). Although our study could not prove such a link, findings of the same S. aureus strains on body and environment sites of calves as in milk from lactating cows support the recommendation that feeding of milk from cows with S. aureus mastitis to calves should be avoided. It is also recommended to house calves in a building separate from lactating cows, and to avoid spread of bacteria from cows to calves via hands and tools.

In future studies on *S. aureus* epidemiology on national and herd level, differences between PTs, and between isolates of the same PT in expression of important virulence factors should be investigated. Here, studies on factors involved in persistency and spread of infections are of utmost importance.

# 6 Conclusions

Overall, the results of this thesis contribute new knowledge on staphylococcal diagnostics and *S. aureus* epidemiology, which can be used to improve strategies for mastitis control.

In more detail, the main conclusions were as follows:

- The relative occurrence of S. aureus, S. intermedius, and S. hyicus among CPS isolated from cases of bovine mastitis were 97%, 2% and 1%, respectively.
- > Three tests, P-agar supplemented with acriflavin,  $\beta$ -galactosidase, and hemolytic reaction on chocolate agar, enabled quick and accurate differentiation between the CPS species *S. aureus*, *S. intermedius*, and *S. hyicus*.
- ➤ The commercial test Staph-Zym<sup>TM</sup> was inferior to *tuf* gene sequencing for species identification of CNS isolated from bovine mastitis due to frequent misidentification of CNS species and frequent need for supplementary tests.
- A rather high genotypic diversity was found among S. aureus isolated from cases of acute clinical mastitis, but a few PTs dominated indicating spread between herds. The distribution of PTs was different in southern Sweden compared to other regions of the country.
- S. aureus isolates with genotypes indistinguishable from those found in milk was frequently found in body and environment samples in lactating cows, but also in other animal groups such as heifer calves in three of five herds with S. aureus mastitis problems. Among body sites, S. aureus was most frequently found in hock skin.

# References

- Aarestrup, F.M. (2001). Comparative ribotyping of *Staphylococcus intermedius* isolated from members of the Canoidea gives possible evidence for host-specificity and co-evolution of bacteria and hosts. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary* 51(Pt 4), 1343-7.
- Aarestrup, F.M., Wegener, H.C., Jensen, N.E., Jonsson, O., Myllys, V., Thorberg, B.M., Waage, S. & Rosdahl, V.T. (1997). A study of phage- and ribotype patterns of *Staphylococcus aureus* isolated from bovine mastitis in the Nordic countries. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica* 38(3), 243-52.
- Aarestrup, F.M., Wegener, H.C. & Rosdahl, V.T. (1995a). A comparative study of *Staphylococcus aureus* strains isolated from bovine subclinical mastitis during 1952-1956 and 1992. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica 36(2), 237-43.
- Aarestrup, F.M., Wegener, H.C., Rosdahl, V.T. & Jensen, N.E. (1995b). Staphylococcal and other bacterial species associated with intramammary infections in Danish dairy herds. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica* 36(4), 475-87.
- Anaya-Lopez, J.L., Contreras-Guzman, O.E., Carabez-Trejo, A., Baizabal-Aguirre, V.M., Lopez-Meza, J.E., Valdez-Alarcon, J.J. & Ochoa-Zarzosa, A. (2006). Invasive potential of bacterial isolates associated with subclinical bovine mastitis. *Research in Veterinary Science* 81(3), 358-61.
- Anderson, K.L. & Lyman, R.L. (2006b). Long-term persistence of specific genetic types of mastitis-causing *Staphylococcus aureus* on three dairies. *Journal of Dairy Science* 89(12), 4551– 6.
- Anderson, K.L., Lyman, R.L., Bodeis-Jones, S.M. & White, D.G. (2006a). Genetic diversity and antimicrobial susceptibility profiles among mastitis-causing *Staphylococcus aureus* isolated from bovine milk samples. *American Journal of Veterinary Research* 67(7), 1185-91.
- Anonymous (2007). Swedish Dairy Association. Animal health 2007/2007. Stockholm, Sweden.
- Baird-Parker, A.C. (1963). A classification of micrococci and staphylococci based on physiological and biochemical tests. *Journal of General Microbiology* 30, 409-27.
- Bannerman, T. (2003). Staphylococcus, Micrococcus, and other catalase-positive cocci that grow aerobically In: Murray, P.R., Jo Baron, E., Jorgensen, J.H., Landry, M.L., Pfaller, M.A. (Ed.). Manual of Clinical Microbiology. Washington, DC: ASM Press. pp. 384-404.

- Bannerman, T.L., Hancock, G.A., Tenover, F.C. & Miller, J.M. (1995). Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis as a replacement for bacteriophage typing of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 33(3), 551-5.
- Bannerman, T.L., Kleeman, K.T. & Kloos, W.E. (1993). Evaluation of the Vitek Systems Gram-Positive Identification card for species identification of coagulase-negative staphylococci. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 31(5), 1322-5.
- Bannerman, T.L. & Peacock, S.J. (2007). Staphylococcus, Micrococcus, and Other catalase-Positive Cocci In: Murray, P.R., Jo Baron, E., Jorgensen, J.H., Landry, M.L., Pfaller, M.A. (Ed.) Manual of Clinical Microbiology. Washington, DC: ASM Press. pp. 390-411.
- Barto, P.B., Bush, L.J. & Adams, G.D. (1982). Feeding milk containing *Staphylococcus aureus* to calves. *Journal of Dairy Science* 65(2), 271-4.
- Bascomb, S. & Manafi, M. (1998). Use of enzyme tests in characterization and identification of aerobic and facultatively anaerobic gram-positive cocci. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* 11(2), 318-40.
- Becker, K., Harmsen, D., Mellmann, A., Meier, C., Schumann, P., Peters, G. & von Eiff, C. (2004). Development and evaluation of a quality-controlled ribosomal sequence database for 16S ribosomal DNA-based identification of *Staphylococcus* species. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 42(11), 4988-95.
- Becker, K., von Eiff, C., Keller, B., Bruck, M., Etienne, J. & Peters, G. (2005). Thermonuclease gene as a target for specific identification of *Staphylococcus intermedius* isolates: use of a PCR-DNA enzyme immunoassay. *Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease* 51(4), 237-44.
- Bes, M., Saidi Slim, L., Becharnia, F., Meugnier, H., Vandenesch, F., Etienne, J. & Freney, J. (2002). Population diversity of *Staphylococcus intermedius* isolates from various host species: typing by 16S-23S intergenic ribosomal DNA spacer polymorphism analysis. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 40(6), 2275-7.
- Birgersson, A., Haraldsson, I. & Jonsson, P. (1991). Virulence of coagulase-negative staphylococci isolated from bovine mastitis. *Zentralbl Bakteriol* 21, 331-334.
- Birgersson, A., Jonsson, P. & Holmberg, O. (1992). Species identification and some characteristics of coagulase-negative staphylococci isolated from bovine udders. *Veterinary Microbiology* 31(2-3), 181-9.
- Borm, A.A., Fox, L.K., Leslie, K.E., Hogan, J.S., Andrew, S.M., Moyes, K.M., Oliver, S.P., Schukken, Y.H., Hancock, D.D., Gaskins, C.T., Owens, W.E. & Norman, C. (2006). Effects of prepartum intramammary antibiotic therapy on udder health, milk production, and reproductive performance in dairy heifers. *Journal of Dairy Science* 89(6), 2090-8.
- Botha, F. & Brand, P. (1987). A simplified key for identification of coagulase-positive staphyloccci isolated from bovine milk. S. Afr. J. Dairy Sci 1, 39-44.
- Bradley, A.J., Leach, K.A., Breen, J.E., Green, L.E. & Green, M.J. (2007). Survey of the incidence and aetiology of mastitis on dairy farms in England and Wales. *The Veterinary Record* 160(8), 253-7.
- Bramley, A.J. & Dodd, F.H. (1984). Reviews of the progress of dairy science: mastitis control-progress and prospects. *The Journal of Dairy Research* 51(3), 481-512.

- Brouillette, E., Talbot, B.G. & Malouin, F. (2003). The fibronectin-binding proteins of *Staphylococcus aureus* may promote mammary gland colonization in a lactating mouse model of mastitis. *Infection and Immunity* 71(4), 2292-5.
- Burriel, A.R. & Scott, M. (1997). Evaluation of the Staph-Zym system in the identification of staphylococci isolated from ovine milk and the ewe environment. *Journal of Basic Microbiology* 37(4), 245-50.
- Buzzola, F.R., Quelle, L., Gomez, M.I., Catalano, M., Steele-Moore, L., Berg, D., Gentilini, E., Denamiel, G. & Sordelli, D.O. (2001). Genotypic analysis of *Staphylococcus aureus* from milk of dairy cows with mastitis in Argentina. *Epidemiology and Infections* 126(3), 445-52.
- Calzolari, A., Bettera, S., Frigeiro, C., Rampone, H. & Giraudo, J. (1995). Taxonomic classification and antibiotic resistance of staphylococci isolated from bovine milk. In: NMC (Ed.) Proceedings of the 3rd international mastitis seminar, Tel Aviv, Israel pp. 78-79.
- Chaffer, M., Leitner, G., Winkler, M., Glickman, A., Krifucks, O., Ezra, E. & Saran, A. (1999). Coagulase-negative staphylococci and mammary gland infections in cows. *Zentralblatt für Veterinärmedizin. Reihe* B 46(10), 707-12.
- Cucarella, C., Tormo, M.A., Ubeda, C., Trotonda, M.P., Monzon, M., Peris, C., Amorena, B., Lasa, I. & Penades, J.R. (2004). Role of biofilm-associated protein bap in the pathogenesis of bovine *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Infection and Immunity* 72(4), 2177-85.
- Cunha Mde, L., Sinzato, Y.K. & Silveira, L.V. (2004). Comparison of methods for the identification of coagulase-negative staphylococci. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* 99(8), 855-60.
- Davidson, I. (1961). The epidemiology of staphylococcal mastitis. *The Veterinary Record* 73, 1015-8.
- De Buyser, M.L., Morvan, A., Aubert, S., Dilasser, F. & el Solh, N. (1992). Evaluation of a ribosomal RNA gene probe for the identification of species and subspecies within the genus *Staphylococcus. Journal of General Microbiology* 138(5), 889-99.
- De Vliegher, S., Laevens, H., Devriese, L.A., Opsomer, G., Leroy, J.L., Barkema, H.W. & de Kruif, A. (2003). Prepartum teat apex colonization with *Staphylococcus chromogenes* in dairy heifers is associated with low somatic cell count in early lactation. *Veterinary Microbiology* 92(3), 245-52.
- Devriese, L.A. (1981). Baird-Parker medium supplemented with acriflavine, polymyxins and sulphonamide for the selective isolation of *Staphylococcus aureus* from heavily contaminated materials. *The Journal of Applied Bacteriology* 50(2), 351-7.
- Devriese, L.A. & De Keyser, H. (1980). Prevalence of different species of coagulase-negative staphylococci on teats and in milk samples from dairy cows. *The Journal of Dairy Research* 47, 155-8.
- Devriese, L.A., Laevens, H., Haesebrouck, F. & Hommez, J. (1994). A simple identification scheme for coagulase negative staphylococci from bovine mastitis. *Research in Veterinary Science* 57(2), 240-4.
- Devriese, L.A., Schleifer, K.H. & Adegoke, G.O. (1985). Identification of coagulase-negative staphylococci from farm animals. *The Journal of Applied Bacteriology* 58(1), 45-55.

- Devriese, L.A., Vancanneyt, M., Baele, M., Vaneechoutte, M., De Graef, E., Snauwaert, C., Cleenwerck, I., Dawyndt, P., Swings, J., Decostere, A. & Haesebrouck, F. (2005). *Staphylococcus* pseudintermedius sp. nov., a coagulase-positive species from animals. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology* 55(Pt 4), 1569-73.
- Dingwell, R.T., Leslie, K.E., Sabour, P., Lepp, D. & Pacan, J. (2006). Influence of the genotype of *Staphylococcus aureus*, determined by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis, on dryperiod elimination of subclinical mastitis in Canadian dairy herds. *The Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research* 70(2), 115-20.
- Drancourt, M. & Raoult, D. (2002). rpoB gene sequence-based identification of Staphylococcus species. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 40(4), 1333–8.
- Dziewanowska, K., Patti, J.M., Deobald, C.F., Bayles, K.W., Trumble, W.R. & Bohach, G.A. (1999). Fibronectin binding protein and host cell tyrosine kinase are required for internalization of *Staphylococcus aureus* by epithelial cells. *Infection and Immunity* 67(9), 4673-8.
- Eberhart, R.J. & Buckalew, J.M. (1977). Intramammary infections in a dairy herd with a low incidence of Streptococcus agalactiae and *Staphylococcus aureus* infections. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association* 171(7), 630-4.
- Eberhart, R.J., LeVan, P.L., Griel, L.C., Jr. & Kesler, E.M. (1983). Germicidal teat dip in a herd with low prevalence of Streptococcus agalactiae and *Staphylococcus aureus* mastitis. *Journal of Dairy Science* 66(6), 1390-5.
- Edinger, D., Tenhagen, B.A., Heuwieser, W., Kalbe, P., Klunder, G. & Baumgartner, B. (1999). [Effect of puerperal mastitis in primiparous cows on milk production, cell count and culling]. *Deutsche Tierärztliche Wochenschrift* 106(11), 470-4.
- Elbers, A.R., Miltenburg, J.D., De Lange, D., Crauwels, A.P., Barkema, H.W. & Schukken, Y.H. (1998). Risk factors for clinical mastitis in a random sample of dairy herds from the southern part of The Netherlands. *Journal of Dairy Science* 81(2), 420-6.
- Ericsson Unnerstad, H., Lindberg, A., Persson Waller, K., Ekman, T., Artursson, K., Nilsson Öst, M. & Bengtsson, B. (2008). Microbial aetiology of acute clinical mastitis and agentspecific risk factors. *Veterinary Microbiology, (Article in Press)*
- Espy, M.J., Uhl, J.R., Sloan, L.M., Buckwalter, S.P., Jones, M.F., Vetter, E.A., Yao, J.D., Wengenack, N.L., Rosenblatt, J.E., Cockerill, F.R., 3rd & Smith, T.F. (2006). Real-time PCR in clinical microbiology: applications for routine laboratory testing. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* 19(1), 165–256.
- Ferguson, J.D., Azzaro, G., Gambina, M. & Licitra, G. (2007). Prevalence of mastitis pathogens in Ragusa, Sicily, from 2000 to 2006. *Journal of Dairy Science* 90(12), 5798-813.
- Fontana, C., Favaro, M., Pelliccioni, M., Pistoia, E.S. & Favalli, C. (2005). Use of the MicroSeq 500 16S rRNA gene-based sequencing for identification of bacterial isolates that commercial automated systems failed to identify correctly. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 43(2), 615–9.
- Fournier, C., Kuhnert, P., Frey, J., Miserez, R., Kirchhofer, M., Kaufmann, T., Steiner, A. & Graber, H.U. (2008). Bovine *Staphylococcus aureus*: association of virulence genes, genotypes and clinical outcome. *Research in Veterinary Science* 85(3), 439-48.

- Fox, L.K. & Gay, J.M. (1993). Contagious mastitis. *The Veterinary Clinics of North America*. Food animal practice 9(3), 475-87.
- Fox, L.K., Gershman, M., Hancock, D.D. & Hutton, C.T. (1991). Fomites and reservoirs of *Staphylococcus aureus* causing intramammary infections as determined by phage typing: the effect of milking time hygiene practices. *The Cornell Veterinarian* 81(2), 183–93.
- Fujita, S., Senda, Y., Iwagami, T. & Hashimoto, T. (2005). Rapid identification of staphylococcal strains from positive-testing blood culture bottles by internal transcribed spacer PCR followed by microchip gel electrophoresis. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 43(3), 1149-57.
- Fulwider, W.K., Grandin, T., Garrick, D.J., Engle, T.E., Lamm, W.D., Dalsted, N.L. & Rollin, B.E. (2007). Influence of free-stall base on tarsal joint lesions and hygiene in dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 90(7), 3559-66.
- Futagawa-Saito, K., Sugiyama, T., Karube, S., Sakurai, N., Ba-Thein, W. & Fukuyasu, T. (2004). Prevalence and characterization of leukotoxin-producing *Staphylococcus intermedius* in Isolates from dogs and pigeons. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 42(11), 5324-6.
- Ghebremedhin, B., Layer, F., Konig, W. & Konig, B. (2008). Genetic classification and distinguishing of *Staphylococcus* species based on different partial gap, 16S rRNA, hsp60, rpoB, sodA, and tuf gene sequences. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 46(3), 1019-25.
- Gianneechini, R., Concha, C., Rivero, R., Delucci, I. & Moreno Lopez, J. (2002). Occurrence of clinical and sub-clinical mastitis in dairy herds in the West Littoral Region in Uruguay. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica* 43(4), 221-30.
- Graber, H.U., Casey, M.G., Naskova, J., Steiner, A. & Schaeren, W. (2007). Development of a highly sensitive and specific assay to detect *Staphylococcus aureus* in bovine mastitic milk. *Journal of Dairy Science* 90(10), 4661-9.
- Griffeth, G.C., Morris, D.O., Abraham, J.L., Shofer, F.S. & Rankin, S.C. (2008). Screening for skin carriage of methicillin-resistant coagulase-positive staphylococci and *Staphylococcus schleiferi* in dogs with healthy and inflamed skin. *Veterinary Dermatology* 19(3), 142-9.
- Haveri, M., Hovinen, M., Roslof, A. & Pyorala, S. (2008). Molecular types and genetic profiles of *Staphylococcus aureus* strains isolated from bovine intramammary infections and extramammary sites. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 46(11), 3728–35.
- Haveri, M., Roslof, A., Rantala, L. & Pyorala, S. (2007). Virulence genes of bovine Staphylococcus aureus from persistent and nonpersistent intramammary infections with different clinical characteristics. Journal of Applied Microbiology 103(4), 993-1000.
- Haveri, M., Taponen, S., Vuopio-Varkila, J., Salmenlinna, S. & Pyorala, S. (2005). Bacterial genotype affects the manifestation and persistence of bovine *Staphylococcus aureus* intramammary infection. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 43(2), 959-61.
- Heikens, E., Fleer, A., Paauw, A., Florijn, A. & Fluit, A.C. (2005). Comparison of genotypic and phenotypic methods for species-level identification of clinical isolates of coagulasenegative staphylococci. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 43(5), 2286-90.
- Hoe, F.G. & Ruegg, P.L. (2005). Relationship between antimicrobial susceptibility of clinical mastitis pathogens and treatment outcome in cows. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association* 227(9), 1461-8.

- Hogan, J., González, R.N., Harmon, R., Nickerson, S., Oliver, J., Pankey, J. & Smith, K. (1999). Staphylococci. In: *Laboratory Handbook on Bovine Mastitis*. Madison: pp. 65-77.
- Hogan, J. & Pankey, J. (1987). Staphylococcus Species Other than Staphylococcus aureus. In: Proceedings of National Mastitis Council, 26th Ann Mtg, Orlando, Florida pp. 21.
- Hogan, J.S., Harmon, R.J., Langlois, B.E., Hemken, R.W. & Crist, W.L. (1984). Efficacy of an iodine backflush for preventing new intramammary infections. *Journal of Dairy Science* 67(8), 1850–9.
- Hogg, G.M., McKenna, J.P. & Ong, G. (2008). Rapid detection of methicillin-susceptible and methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* directly from positive BacT/Alert blood culture bottles using real-time polymerase chain reaction: evaluation and comparison of 4 DNA extraction methods. *Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease* 61(4), 446-52.
- Joo, Y.S., Fox, L.K., Davis, W.C., Bohach, G.A. & Park, Y.H. (2001). Staphylococcus aureus associated with mammary glands of cows: genotyping to distinguish different strains among herds. Veterinary microbiology 80(2), 131-8.
- Jorgensen, H.J., Mork, T., Caugant, D.A., Kearns, A. & Rorvik, L.M. (2005). Genetic variation among *Staphylococcus aureus* strains from Norwegian bulk milk. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 71(12), 8352-61.
- Kapur, V., Sischo, W.M., Greer, R.S., Whittam, T.S. & Musser, J.M. (1995). Molecular population genetic analysis of *Staphylococcus aureus* recovered from cows. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 33(2), 376–80.
- Kim, C.H., Khan, M., Morin, D.E., Hurley, W.L., Tripathy, D.N., Kehrli, M., Jr., Oluoch, A.O. & Kakoma, I. (2001). Optimization of the PCR for detection of *Staphylococcus aureus nuc* gene in bovine milk. *Journal of Dairy Science* 84(1), 74-83.
- Kloos, W.E. (1980). Natural populations of the genus Staphylococcus. Annual Review of Microbiology 34, 559-92.
- Kloos, W.E. & Schleifer, K.H. (1975a). Simplified scheme for routine identification of human Staphylococcus species. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 1(1), 82–8.
- Kloos, W.E. & Wolfshohl, J.F. (1982). Identification of *Staphylococcus* species with the API STAPH-IDENT system. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 16(3), 509-16.
- Kloos, W.E., Zimmerman, R.J. & Smith, R.F. (1976). Preliminary studies on the characterization and distribution of *Staphylococcus* and *Micrococcus* species on animal skin. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 31(1), 53-9.
- Kwok, A.Y. & Chow, A.W. (2003). Phylogenetic study of Staphylococcus and Macrococcus species based on partial hsp60 gene sequences. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 53(Pt 1), 87-92.
- Lam, T.J., van Vliet, J.H., Schukken, Y.H., Grommers, F.J., van Velden-Russcher, A., Barkema, H.W. & Brand, A. (1997). The effect of discontinuation of postmilking teat disinfection in low somatic cell count herds. II. Dynamics of intramammary infections. *The Veterinary Quarterly* 19(2), 47-53.
- Lammler, C. (1989). Evaluation of the Staph-Zym-system for identification of *Staphylococcus hyicus* and *Staphylococcus intermedius*. *Zentralblatt für Veterinärmedizin*. *Reihe B* 36(3), 180-4.
- Larsen, H.D., Sloth, K.H., Elsberg, C., Enevoldsen, C., Pedersen, L.H., Eriksen, N.H., Aarestrup, F.M. & Jensen, N.E. (2000). The dynamics of *Staphylococcus aureus*

intramammary infection in nine Danish dairy herds. *Veterinary Microbiology* 71(1-2), 89-101.

- Layer, F., Ghebremedhin, B., Moder, K.A., Konig, W. & Konig, B. (2006). Comparative study using various methods for identification of *Staphylococcus* species in clinical specimens. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 44(8), 2824-30.
- Luthje, P. & Schwarz, S. (2006). Antimicrobial resistance of coagulase-negative staphylococci from bovine subclinical mastitis with particular reference to macrolide-lincosamide resistance phenotypes and genotypes. *The Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*. 57(5), 966– 9.
- Maes, N., De Gheldre, Y., De Ryck, R., Vaneechoutte, M., Meugnier, H., Etienne, J. & Struelens, M.J. (1997). Rapid and accurate identification of *Staphylococcus* species by tRNA intergenic spacer length polymorphism analysis. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 35(10), 2477-81.
- Makovec, J.A. & Ruegg, P.L. (2003). Results of milk samples submitted for microbiological examination in Wisconsin from 1994 to 2001. *Journal of Dairy Science* 86(11), 3466-72.
- Martineau, F., Picard, F.J., Ke, D., Paradis, S., Roy, P.H., Ouellette, M. & Bergeron, M.G. (2001). Development of a PCR assay for identification of staphylococci at genus and species levels. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 39(7), 2541-7.
- Matos, J.S., White, D.G., Harmon, R.J. & Langlois, B.E. (1991). Isolation of *Staphylococcus aureus* from sites other than the lactating mammary gland. *Journal of Dairy Science* 74(5), 1544–9.
- Matthews, K.R., Jayarao, B.M. & Oliver, S.P. (1992). Plasmid pattern analysis of *Staphylococcus* species isolated from bovine mammary secretions. *Journal of Dairy Science* 75(12), 3318-23.
- Matthews, K.R., Kumar, S.J., O'Conner, S.A., Harmon, R.J., Pankey, J.W., Fox, L.K. & Oliver, S.P. (1994). Genomic fingerprints of *Staphylococcus aureus* of bovine origin by polymerase chain reaction-based DNA fingerprinting. *Epidemiology and Infection* 112(1), 177-86.
- Mellmann, A., Becker, K., von Eiff, C., Keckevoet, U., Schumann, P. & Harmsen, D. (2006). Sequencing and staphylococci identification. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 12(2), 333-6.
- Middleton, J.R., Fox, L.K., Gay, J.M., Tyler, J.W. & Besser, T.E. (2002a). Influence of *Staphylococcus aureus* strain-type on mammary quarter milk somatic cell count and Nacetyl-beta-D-glucosaminidase activity in cattle from eight dairies. *Journal of Dairy Science* 85(5), 1133-40.
- Middleton, J.R., Fox, L.K., Gay, J.M., Tyler, J.W. & Besser, T.E. (2002b). Use of pulsedfield gel electrophoresis for detecting differences in *Staphylococcus aureus* strain populations between dairy herds with different cattle importation practices. *Epidemiology and Infection* 129(2), 387-95.
- Middleton, J.R., Fox, L.K. & Smith, T.H. (2001). Management strategies to decrease the prevalence of mastitis caused by one strain of *Staphylococcus aureus* in a dairy herd. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association* 218(10), 1615–8, 1581–2.

- Middleton, J.R., Timms, L.L., Bader, G.R., Lakritz, J., Luby, C.D. & Steevens, B.J. (2005). Effect of prepartum intramammary treatment with pirlimycin hydrochloride on prevalence of early first-lactation mastitis in dairy heifers. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association* 227(12), 1969-74.
- Mork, T., Tollersrud, T., Kvitle, B., Jorgensen, H.J. & Waage, S. (2005). Comparison of *Staphylococcus aureus* genotypes recovered from cases of bovine, ovine, and caprine mastitis. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 43(8), 3979-84.
- Mulligan, M.E. & Arbeit, R.D. (1991). Epidemiologic and clinical utility of typing systems for differentiating among strains of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology: the Official Journal of the Society of Hospital Epidemiologists of America* 12(1), 20–8.
- Musser, J.M., Schlievert, P.M., Chow, A.W., Ewan, P., Kreiswirth, B.N., Rosdahl, V.T., Naidu, A.S., Witte, W. & Selander, R.K. (1990). A single clone of *Staphylococcus aureus* causes the majority of cases of toxic shock syndrome. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 87(1), 225-9.
- Myllys, V., Asplund, K., Brofeldt, E., Hirvela-Koski, V., Honkanen-Buzalski, T., Junttila, J., Kulkas, L., Myllykangas, O., Niskanen, M., Saloniemi, H., Sandholm, M. & Saranpaa, T. (1998). Bovine mastitis in Finland in 1988 and 1995--changes in prevalence and antimicrobial resistance. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica* 39(1), 119-26.
- Neave, F.K., Dodd, F.H., Kingwill, R.G. & Westgarth, D.R. (1969). Control of mastitis in the dairy herd by hygiene and management. *Journal of Dairy Science* 52(5), 696-707.
- Olde Riekerink, R.G., Barkema, H.W., Kelton, D.F. & Scholl, D.T. (2008). Incidence rate of clinical mastitis on Canadian dairy farms. *Journal of Dairy Science* 91(4), 1366-77.
- Olive, D.M. & Bean, P. (1999). Principles and applications of methods for DNA-based typing of microbial organisms. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 37(6), 1661-9.
- Oliveira, M., Bexiga, R., Nunes, S.F., Carneiro, C., Cavaco, L.M., Bernardo, F. & Vilela, C.L. (2006). Biofilm-forming ability profiling of *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Staphylococcus epidermidis* mastitis isolates. *Veterinary Microbiology* 118(1-2), 133-40.
- Oliver, S.P., Gillespie, B.E., Ivey, S.J., Lewis, M.J., Johnson, D.L., Lamar, K.C., Moorehead, H., Dowlen, H.H., Chester, S.T. & Hallberg, J.W. (2004). Influence of prepartum pirlimycin hydrochloride or penicillin-novobiocin therapy on mastitis in heifers during early lactation. *Journal of Dairy Science* 87(6), 1727-31.
- Oliver, S.P., Lewis, M.J., Gillespie, B.E., Dowlen, H.H., Jaenicke, E.C. & Roberts, R.K. (2003). Prepartum antibiotic treatment of heifers: milk production, milk quality and economic benefit. *Journal of Dairy Science* 86(4), 1187-93.
- Osteras, O., Solverod, L. & Reksen, O. (2006). Milk culture results in a large Norwegian survey-effects of season, parity, days in milk, resistance, and clustering. *Journal of Dairy Science* 89(3), 1010-23.
- Philpot, W.N. (1979). Control of mastitis by hygiene and therapy. *Journal of Dairy Science* 62(1), 168-76.
- Philpot, W.N. (1984). Economics of mastitis control. The Veterinary clinics of North America. LargeAanimal Practice 6(2), 233-45.

- Piccinini, R., Cesaris, L., Dapra, V., Borromeo, V., Picozzi, C., Secchi, C. & Zecconi, A. (2008). The role of teat skin contamination in the epidemiology of *Staphylococcus aureus* intramammary infections. *The Journal of Dairy Research (Article in Press)*.
- Pitkala, A., Haveri, M., Pyorala, S., Myllys, V. & Honkanen-Buzalski, T. (2004). Bovine mastitis in Finland 2001-prevalence, distribution of bacteria, and antimicrobial resistance. *Journal of Dairy Science* 87(8), 2433-41.
- Pol, M. & Ruegg, P.L. (2007). Relationship between antimicrobial drug usage and antimicrobial susceptibility of gram-positive mastitis pathogens. *Journal of Dairy Science* 90(1), 262-73.
- Prevost, G., Jaulhac, B. & Piemont, Y. (1992). DNA fingerprinting by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis is more effective than ribotyping in distinguishing among methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus* isolates. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 30(4), 967-73.
- Pyorala, S. & Taponen, S. (2008). Coagulase-negative staphylococci-Emerging mastitis pathogens. *Veterinary Microbiology. (Article in Press)*
- Rajala-Schultz, P.J., Torres, A.H., Degraves, F.J., Gebreyes, W.A. & Patchanee, P. (2008). Antimicrobial resistance and genotypic characterization of coagulase-negative staphylococci over the dry period. *Veterinary Microbiology. (Article in Press)*
- Rampone, H., Bogni, C., Giraudo, J. & Calzolari, A. (1993). Identification of staphylococci from bovine milk in Argentina. Zentralblatt für Bakteriologie : International Journal of Medical Microbiology 279(4), 537-43.
- Raus, J. & Love, D.N. (1983). Characterization of coagulase-positive Staphylococcus intermedius and Staphylococcus aureus isolated from veterinary clinical specimens. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 18(4), 789-92.
- Reksen, O., Solverod, L., Branscum, A.J. & Osteras, O. (2006). Relationships between milk culture results and treatment for clinical mastitis or culling in Norwegian dairy cattle. *Journal of Dairy Science* 89(8), 2928-37.
- Renneberg, J., Rieneck, K. & Gutschik, E. (1995). Evaluation of Staph ID 32 system and Staph-Zym system for identification of coagulase-negative staphylococci. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 33(5), 1150-3.
- Riffon, R., Sayasith, K., Khalil, H., Dubreuil, P., Drolet, M. & Lagace, J. (2001). Development of a rapid and sensitive test for identification of major pathogens in bovine mastitis by PCR. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 39(7), 2584-9.
- Rivas, A.L., Gonzalez, R.N., Wiedmann, M., Bruce, J.L., Cole, E.M., Bennett, G.J., Schulte, H.F., 3rd, Wilson, D.J., Mohammed, H.O. & Batt, C.A. (1997). Diversity of *Streptococcus agalactiae* and *Staphylococcus aureus* ribotypes recovered from New York dairy herds. *American Journal of Veterinary Research* 58(5), 482–7.
- Roberson, J.R., Fox, L.K., Hancock, D.D. & Besser, T.E. (1992). Evaluation of methods for differentiation of coagulase-positive staphylococci. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 30(12), 3217-9.
- Roberson, J.R., Fox, L.K., Hancock, D.D., Gay, C.C. & Besser, T.E. (1994a). Coagulasepositive *Staphylococcus* intramammary infections in primiparous dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 77(4), 958–69.

- Roberson, J.R., Fox, L.K., Hancock, D.D., Gay, J.M. & Besser, T.E. (1994b). Ecology of *Staphylococcus aureus* isolated from various sites on dairy farms. *Journal of Dairy Science* 77(11), 3354-64.
- Roberson, J.R., Fox, L.K., Hancock, D.D., Gay, J.M. & Besser, T.E. (1996). Prevalence of coagulase-positive staphylococci, other than *Staphylococcus aureus*, in bovine mastitis. *American Journal of Veterinary Research* 57(1), 54–8.
- Roberson, J.R., Fox, L.K., Hancock, D.D., Gay, J.M. & Besser, T.E. (1998). Sources of intramammary infections from *Staphylococcus aureus* in dairy heifers at first parturition. *Journal of Dairy Science* 81(3), 687-93.
- Robert, A., Seegers, H. & Bareille, N. (2006). Incidence of intramammary infections during the dry period without or with antibiotic treatment in dairy cows--a quantitative analysis of published data. *Veterinary Research* 37(1), 25-48.
- Ruegg, P.L. (2008). The quest for the perfect test: Phenotypic versus genotypic identification of coagulase-negative staphylococci associated with bovine mastitis. *Veterinary Microbiology. (Article in Press)*
- Rutherford, K.M., Langford, F.M., Jack, M.C., Sherwood, L., Lawrence, A.B. & Haskell, M.J. (2008). Hock injury prevalence and associated risk factors on organic and nonorganic dairy farms in the United Kingdom. *Journal of Dairy Science* 91(6), 2265-74.
- Saadatian-Elahi, M., Teyssou, R. & Vanhems, P. (2008). Staphylococcus aureus, the major pathogen in orthopaedic and cardiac surgical site infections: a literature review. International Journal of Surgery (London, England) 6(3), 238-45.
- Sabour, P.M., Gill, J.J., Lepp, D., Pacan, J.C., Ahmed, R., Dingwell, R. & Leslie, K. (2004). Molecular typing and distribution of *Staphylococcus aureus* isolates in Eastern Canadian dairy herds. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 42(8), 3449-55.
- Sampimon, O.C., Zadoks, R.N., De Vliegher, S., Supre, K., Haesebrouck, F., Barkema, H.W., Sol, J. & Lam, T.J. (2008). Performance of API Staph ID 32 and Staph-Zym for identification of coagulase-negative staphylococci isolated from bovine milk samples. *Veterinary Microbiology (Article in Press)*
- Sasaki, T., Kikuchi, K., Tanaka, Y., Takahashi, N., Kamata, S. & Hiramatsu, K. (2007a). Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus pseudintermedius* in a veterinary teaching hospital. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 45(4), 1118-25.
- Sasaki, T., Kikuchi, K., Tanaka, Y., Takahashi, N., Kamata, S. & Hiramatsu, K. (2007b). Reclassification of phenotypically identified *Staphylococcus intermedius* strains. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 45(9), 2770-8.
- Schleifer, K.H. & Kloos, W.E. (1975). A simple test system for the separation of staphylococci from micrococci. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 1(3), 337-8.
- Schukken, Y.H., Gonzalez, R.N., Tikofsky, L.L., Schulte, H.F., Santisteban, C.G., Welcome, F.L., Bennett, G.J., Zurakowski, M.J. & Zadoks, R.N. (2008). CNS mastitis: Nothing to worry about? *Veterinary Microbiology. (Article in Press)*
- Schällibaum, M. (2001). Mastitis-pathogens isolated in Switzerland: 1987-1996. IDF. (Mastitis Newsletter).
- Seegers, H., Fourichon, C. & Beaudeau, F. (2003). Production effects related to mastitis and mastitis economics in dairy cattle herds. *Veterinary Research* 34(5), 475-91.

- Smith, E.M., Green, L.E., Medley, G.F., Bird, H.E., Fox, L.K., Schukken, Y.H., Kruze, J.V., Bradley, A.J., Zadoks, R.N. & Dowson, C.G. (2005). Multilocus sequence typing of intercontinental bovine *Staphylococcus aureus* isolates. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 43(9), 4737-43.
- Smith, T.H., Fox, L.K. & Middleton, J.R. (1998). Outbreak of mastitis caused by one strain of Staphylococcus aureus in a closed dairy herd. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 212(4), 553-6.
- Sol, J., Sampimon, O.C., Barkema, H.W. & Schukken, Y.H. (2000). Factors associated with cure after therapy of clinical mastitis caused by *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Journal of Dairy Science* 83(2), 278-84.
- Sommerhauser, J., Kloppert, B., Wolter, W., Zschock, M., Sobiraj, A. & Failing, K. (2003). The epidemiology of *Staphylococcus aureus* infections from subclinical mastitis in dairy cows during a control programme. *Veterinary Microbiology* 96(1), 91-102.
- Spencer, G.R. & Lasmanis, J. (1952). Reservors of infection of *Micrococcus pyogenes* in bovine mastitis. *American Journal of Veterinary Research* 13(49), 500-3.
- Stepan, J., Pantucek, R. & Doskar, J. (2004). Molecular diagnostics of clinically important staphylococci. *Folia Microbiologica (Praha)* 49(4), 353-86.
- Stephan, R., Annemuller, C., Hassan, A.A. & Lammler, C. (2001). Characterization of enterotoxigenic *Staphylococcus aureus* strains isolated from bovine mastitis in north-east Switzerland. *Veterinary Microbiology* 78(4), 373-82.
- Svec, P., Vancanneyt, M., Sedlacek, I., Engelbeen, K., Stetina, V., Swings, J. & Petras, P. (2004). Reclassification of Staphylococcus pulvereri Zakrzewska-Czerwinska et al. 1995 as a later synonym of *Staphylococcus vitulinus* Webster et al. 1994. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology* 54(Pt 6), 2213-5.
- Takahashi, T., Satoh, I. & Kikuchi, N. (1999). Phylogenetic relationships of 38 taxa of the genus Staphylococcus based on 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis. International journal of Systematic Bacteriology 49 Pt 2, 725-8.
- Taponen, S. (2008). Bovine mastitis caused by coagulase-negative staphylococci. Diss. University of Helsinki. Helsinki.
- Taponen, S., Bjorkroth, J. & Pyorala, S. (2008). Coagulase-negative staphylococci isolated from bovine extramammary sites and intramammary infections in a single dairy herd. *The Journal of Dairy Research* 75(4), 422-9.
- Taponen, S., Koort, J., Bjorkroth, J., Saloniemi, H. & Pyorala, S. (2007). Bovine intramammary infections caused by coagulase-negative staphylococci may persist throughout lactation according to amplified fragment length polymorphism-based analysis. *Journal of Dairy Science* 90(7), 3301-7.
- Taponen, S., Simojoki, H., Haveri, M., Larsen, H.D. & Pyorala, S. (2006). Clinical characteristics and persistence of bovine mastitis caused by different species of coagulasenegative staphylococci identified with API or AFLP. *Veterinary Microbiology*. 115(1-3), 199-207.
- Tenhagen, B.A., Koster, G., Wallmann, J. & Heuwieser, W. (2006). Prevalence of mastitis pathogens and their resistance against antimicrobial agents in dairy cows in Brandenburg, Germany. *Journal of Dairy Science* 89(7), 2542–51.

- Tenover, F.C., Arbeit, R., Archer, G., Biddle, J., Byrne, S., Goering, R., Hancock, G., Hebert, G.A., Hill, B., Hollis, R. & et al. (1994). Comparison of traditional and molecular methods of typing isolates of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 32(2), 407-15.
- Thorberg, B.M. (2008). Study of bovine sub-clinical mastitis caused by different types of coagulasenegative staphylococci. Diss. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Uppsala.
- Thorberg, B.M. & Brändström, B. (2000). Evaluation of two commercial systems and a new identification scheme based on solid substrates for identifying coagulase-negative staphylococci from bovine mastitis. *Journal of Veterinary Medicine. B, Infectious Diseases and Veterinary Public Health* 47(9), 683-91.
- Thorberg, B.M., Kuhn, I., Aarestrup, F.M., Brandstrom, B., Jonsson, P. & Danielsson-Tham, M.L. (2006). Pheno- and genotyping of *Staphylococcus epidermidis* isolated from bovine milk and human skin. *Veterinary Microbiology* 115(1-3), 163-72.
- Trinidad, P., Nickerson, S.C. & Alley, T.K. (1990). Prevalence of intramammary infection and teat canal colonization in unbred and primigravid dairy heifers. *Journal of Dairy Science* 73(1), 107-14.
- Turner, K.M. & Feil, E.J. (2007). The secret life of the multilocus sequence type. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents 29(2), 129-35.
- Waage, S., Mork, T., Roros, A., Aasland, D., Hunshamar, A. & Odegaard, S.A. (1999). Bacteria associated with clinical mastitis in dairy heifers. *Journal of Dairy Science* 82(4), 712-9.
- van Leeuwen, W., Sijmons, M., Sluijs, J., Verbrugh, H. & van Belkum, A. (1996). On the nature and use of randomly amplified DNA from *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 34(11), 2770-7.
- van Leeuwen, W., Verbrugh, H., van der Velden, J., van Leeuwen, N., Heck, M. & van Belkum, A. (1999). Validation of binary typing for *Staphylococcus aureus* strains. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 37(3), 664-74.
- Watts, J.L. & Nickerson, S.C. (1986b). A comparison of the STAPH-Ident and STAPH-Trac systems to conventional methods in the identification of staphylococci isolated from bovine udders. *Veterinary Microbiology* 12(2), 179-87.
- Watts, J.L., Owens, W.E. & Nickerson, S.C. (1986a). Identification of staphylococci from bovine udders: evaluation of the API 20GP system. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology* 32(4), 359-61.
- Watts, J.L. & Washburn, P.J. (1991). Evaluation of the Staph-Zym system with staphylococci isolated from bovine intramammary infections. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 29(1), 59-61.
- Watts, J.L. & Yancey, R.J., Jr. (1994). Identification of veterinary pathogens by use of commercial identification systems and new trends in antimicrobial susceptibility testing of veterinary pathogens. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* 7(3), 346-56.
- Weary, D.M. & Taszkun, I. (2000). Hock lesions and free-stall design. *Journal of Dairy Science* 83(4), 697-702.
- Weller, T.M. (2000). Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* typing methods: which should be the international standard? *The Journal of Hospital Infection* 44(3), 160-72.

- White, D.G., Harmon, R.J., Matos, J.E. & Langlois, B.E. (1989). Isolation and identification of coagulase-negative *Staphylococcus* species from bovine body sites and streak canals of nulliparous heifers. *Journal of Dairy Science* 72(7), 1886-92.
- Wilson, D.J., Gonzalez, R.N. & Das, H.H. (1997). Bovine mastitis pathogens in New York and Pennsylvania: prevalence and effects on somatic cell count and milk production. *Journal of Dairy Science* 80(10), 2592-8.
- Yugueros, J., Temprano, A., Berzal, B., Sanchez, M., Hernanz, C., Luengo, J.M. & Naharro, G. (2000). Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase-encoding gene as a useful taxonomic tool for *Staphylococcus* spp. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 38(12), 4351-5.
- Zadoks, R., van Leeuwen, W., Barkema, H., Sampimon, O., Verbrugh, H., Schukken, Y.H. & van Belkum, A. (2000). Application of pulsed-field gel electrophoresis and binary typing as tools in veterinary clinical microbiology and molecular epidemiologic analysis of bovine and human *Staphylococcus aureus* isolates. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 38(5), 1931– 9.
- Zadoks, R.N., van Leeuwen, W.B., Kreft, D., Fox, L.K., Barkema, H.W., Schukken, Y.H. & van Belkum, A. (2002). Comparison of *Staphylococcus aureus* isolates from bovine and human skin, milking equipment, and bovine milk by phage typing, pulsed-field gel electrophoresis, and binary typing. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 40(11), 3894–902.
- Zadoks, R.N. & Watts, J.L. (2008). Species identification of coagulase-negative staphylococci: Genotyping is superior to phenotyping. *Veterinary Microbiology. (Article in Press)*
- Zecconi, A., Calvinho, L.A. & Fox, L. (2006a). *Staphylococcus aureus* Intrammary Infections. Brussels: International Dairy Federation 408,1-42.
- Zecconi, A., Cesaris, L., Liandris, E., Dapra, V. & Piccinini, R. (2006b). Role of several Staphylococcus aureus virulence factors on the inflammatory response in bovine mammary gland. Microbial Pathogenesis 40(4), 177-83.
- Zhang, S. & Maddox, C.W. (2000). Cytotoxic activity of coagulase-negative staphylococci in bovine mastitis. *Infection and Immunity* 68(3), 1102-8.

# Acknowledgements

The study was carried at Division of Reproduction, Department of Clinical Sciences, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science, Swedish University of Agricultural Science and at the Section of Mastitis, Department of Bacteriology, National Veterinary Institute, Uppsala, Sweden. Financial support was kindly provided by the Swedish Research Council for Environment, Agricultural Sciences and Spatial Planning (FORMAS).

After three years living at SVA/SLU, but mainly at the Section of Mastitis, I would like thank the head of the Institute, Anders Engvall, the head of the department, Viveca Båverud, and the head of the section, Susanne André Tuvesson, for placing all necessary facilities at my disposal and for always, no matter how things were changing, making SVA a pleasant place to work at.

I would like to thank all persons that have helped me over the years, but specially the following:

First, my main scientific supervisor, Karin Persson Waller. My god!!. You introduced me to the fantastic arena of mastitis. Thank you for sharing with me your infinite capacity to see over the boundaries and develop new ideas in the pursuit of improving my understanding of mastitis. Thank you for your invaluable guidance along this educating passage. Thanks for all the time you have been put into in my work.

How could I to forget my first interview with my assistant supervisor, Karin Artursson, when I could barely pronounce the word Hej! and most likely I did not even know how to write it. Thank you for giving me this opportunity to work in this project. You always demonstrated pragmatism

and critical sight when looking for eclectic solutions during the adventure of doing science. You were always persistent with the Swedish language, thanks for your effort in doing so.

Nothing would have been possible without the very special help and support from my "guru" and assistant-supervisor Anna Aspán, a wonderful person, who always have plenty of energy to answer my questions, and clarify my conceptual dissonances. Thank you for our deep discussions and your skilful work. Do not forget to enjoy your coffee "pumper" instrument.

Special thanks to my assistant supervisor Helle Ericsson Unnerstad for letting me take part of some of your deep knowledge in the field of mastitis and for invaluable help and constructive criticism. Yes, how could I forget the word "Flummig", among many other words. Toppen Helle. Thanks for your kind interest and contributions in the preparation of this thesis.

Thanks to my co-authors Carlos Concha, Lolita Nilsson and Karin Östensson, for helping me with my first steps in the field of mastitis.

I would to like express my gratitude to my co-author Björn Bengtsson for your advice and kind interest in the right moment. Also, thanks for your friendship.

Thanks to the special group at the Mastitis section, Susanne André Tuvesson, Fereshteh Banihashem, Anna Eriksson, Anna Olsson-Gustafsson, Helle Mönnig, Maria Nilsson-Öst, for opening the door to the mastitis laboratory, and for unconditional support all these years. Also thanks for your skilful work in the laboratory, enthusiasm and help in the right moments. You will always be missed.

A special thanks to Anna Eriksson for expert animal handling and innumerable joyful chats and laughs in the stable and laboratory corner.

I would like to thanks to Marih Jonsson, for your skilful work in the laboratory and for always taking good care of our beautiful bacterias, but also for your enthusiasm, open mind and sympathy.

To Maria "Maja" Persson at the Section of pigs, poultry and ruminants, for your skillful work and generous help during the sampling period. Thanks for writing so clear records! All present and former colleagues and members of the Department of Bacteriology, who have contributed to the very nice friendly atmosphere. A special thanks to Linda Svensson and Boel Harbom, for invaluable help in the right moment.

A lot of thanks to Oskar Nilsson for helping me to with nice sentences like "Har påven en lustig hatt", Yes!!. A lot of thanks to Lennart Melin and Stefan Jernstedt for letting me be part of your interest in music. Thanks for "Besame mucho". Thanks to Ann Nyman for your great "sällskapet" in New Orleans, Funky!

Thanks to the members of the IT department, for your great support. Also thank you for your warm friendship.

Thanks to Virginia Mellys and Griselda Loreto, Fernando Saravia and Patricio Rivera, thank you for your warm friendship.

Thanks to the farmers for your warm welcome. Thanks, for your support and thanks for trust in our work.

My best thoughts go to my parents Doris, Marta and Aldo and my brothers Angela and Giovanni, for being such a wonderful family. An a special thoughts to Aida my grandmother and a wonderful woman. Thanks you for teaching me how to harvest eggs in the morning when the hens had not even left their nests. I will never forget your poem "Let the eggs rain down from the hen house sky".

Thanks to all the cows which still believe in our contribution. Thanks to all of you for your wonderful companion across the human history.

Thanks to Radio P1, and P2, for filling the air with lovely music while I am working.

Cecilia, the mother of our "Titta", Paolo, my lifepartner, my friend and advisor, thanks for taking such wonderful care of our son. Thanks for sharing your life with me and making every day better than the one that is gone.